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Vulnerability of society is the sum of 
susceptibility, lack of coping capacities 
and lack of adaptive capacities.

Concern is working with communities in 
28 countries worldwide to improve their 
lives and reduce vulnerability to poverty 
and hunger. 

Thank You
In 2013 Concern Worldwide helped over 
24 million people. We worked with the 
world’s poorest and most vulnerable 
to transform their lives. This would not 
have been possible without the support 
of our donors. Together we have,  
and still are, making a difference.

See page 12 for a list of countries 
where Concern Worldwide work.

Concern Worldwide offices:
Dublin, Belfast, London, Glasgow, New York



Our Identity – Who We Are
Concern Worldwide is a non-governmental, 
international, humanitarian organisation 
dedicated to the reduction of suffering and 
working towards the ultimate elimination of 
extreme poverty in the world’s poorest countries.

Our Vision – For Change
A world where no-one lives in poverty, fear or 
oppression; where all have access to a decent 
standard of living and the opportunities and 
choices essential to a long, healthy and creative 
life; a world where everyone is treated with 
dignity and respect.

Our Mission – What We Do
Our mission is to help people living in extreme 
poverty achieve major improvements in their 
lives which last and spread without ongoing 
support from Concern. 

Our Values – What guides our work
Concern’s core values derive from a single 
central value:

Extreme poverty must be targeted.  
The quality of our overall endeavour must 
ultimately be measured by its contribution  
to the rapid elimination of the extreme form 
of poverty defined by the United Nations as 
“absolute poverty”. 

Our other values, stated below,  
are derived from this central value:

- Respect for people comes first. 

- Gender equality is a prerequisite  
for development. 

- Development is a process not a gift.

- Greater participation leads to greater 
commitment. 

- All governments have responsibility  
for poverty elimination. 

- Emergencies call for rapid response. 

- The environment must be respected. 

- Good stewardship ensures trust.

 

Concern’s Identity,  
Vision, Mission  
and Values
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As Chairperson I have the 
great privilege of working 
with extraordinarily dedicated 
Council members and staff 
throughout the organisation. 
The commitment to working 
with the poorest people in the 
developing world and fulfilling 
our mission is very evident 
throughout the organisation. 

In 2013, Tom Arnold, who had 
led the organisation for 12 
years retired. Under his direction 
Concern was recognised as a 
global leader in the fight against 
hunger. While Tom stepped 
down from his formal position 
as Chief Executive, we are 
delighted that he continues to 
be involved in Concern’s work 
as our Special Representative 
for Hunger. This allows him 
to support our international 
leadership role on hunger, 
food security and nutrition and 
take advantage of his unique 
capacity to convert advocacy 
into action. 

The appointment of a new CEO 
is one of the most important 
duties of Council. We oversaw 
a very rigorous and competitive 
selection process and were 
delighted to offer the job to 
Dominic MacSorley. Dominic, 
who many of you know, has 
over 30 years’ experience of 

working with and on behalf  
of the world’s poorest and  
most vulnerable people and  
we are privileged to have him 
as our CEO. 

This year marked the mid-point 
of our strategic plan: Greater 
Impact in an Increasingly 
Vulnerable World. One of 
the core aims in the plan is 
to increase our focus on the 
poorest and most vulnerable 
countries, communities and 
people. A significant outcome 
of this focus saw us finalise  
our plans to close operations  
in India, Zimbabwe and 
Cambodia while opening 
programmes in Syria, Lebanon 
and Philippines in response 
to the humanitarian crises in 
those countries.

As Chairperson, I have had the 
opportunity of visiting a number 
of our country programmes, to 
meet with staff and the people 
we work with and see the 
impact of our work first-hand. In 
both Afghanistan and Ethiopia I 
was struck by the way we work 
in partnership with the poorest 
communities and are very much 
directed by what they have to 
say about how we can support 
them to improve their lives. We 
strive to do ourselves out of a 
job in the best way possible so 

that people and communities 
can provide for themselves. I 
would like to assure people that 
we continue to do extraordinary 
work, with the poorest of people 
in the most efficient manner. 

Since I first volunteered with 
Concern in Bangladesh in the 
late 1980s, and was humbled 
by the support of people in our 
local communities, I have been 
firm in my belief that we have 
to do all in our power to ensure 
we are fully accountable to both 
people at home, who make 
our work possible and people 
overseas, with whom we work. 
Our supporters need to know 
that funds raised are spent as 
effectively and efficiently as 
possible. As an organisation  
we try to ensure at all times  
that we are both accountable 
and transparent to our 
supporters and the poorest 
people we work with. 

In 2013, for the fourth 
successive year, our annual 
report won the Published 
Accounts Award for Charities 
in Ireland. This is an important 
independent recognition of 
the transparency and strength 
of our financial reporting. 
Getting external verification 
of the quality of our accounts 
is extremely valuable and 

Message from  
the Chairperson
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gives great reassurance to 
people, that accountability 
and transparency is core to 
everything we do.

The need for charities to 
be transparent and publicly 
accountable was never more 
evident than towards the end 
of 2013 when a series of 
revelations hugely impacted 
on the public’s confidence in 
charities generally. We were 
able to point to our good 
practice, awards, certifications 
and support for initiatives like 
the Statement of Guiding 
Principles for Fundraising 
and the Governance Code 
in reassuring the public of 
our own strong commitment 
to transparency. We have 
actively advocated for improved 
oversight of the charity sector 
for a number of years and 
warmly welcomed the February 
2014 announcement of the 
appointment of a Charity 
Regulator, Ireland’s first.

I am happy to say that 
Concern’s governance 
arrangements follow best 
practice. An independent and 
voluntary board of directors – 
the Council – is responsible for 
overseeing and reviewing all 
aspects of the organisation's 
work. Council is elected by 

Concern’s membership and 
meet six times annually. 

Through good and bad 
times, the public have given 
its consistent support to 
Concern. Following Dominic’s 
appointment, I was delighted 
to travel with him to different 
parts of Ireland to meet and 
thank our local supporters. 
Together, we got an insight into 
the power of our community 
support groups and met 
many of our unsung heroes 
and heroines. We met people 
who have consistently and 
generously supported Concern 
for many years. It was humbling 
and inspiring to learn of the 
commitment and support that 
we have throughout Ireland, 
north and south. We hope to 
continue these meetings and 
encourage the next generation 
of supporters to join the 
Concern family. 

Based on a solemn trust that 
we will use the resources 
available to save lives and 
reduce extreme poverty, this 
support, which now extends to 
communities throughout the 
UK and the US, is the life blood 
of the organisation. 

It is a trust I believe Concern 
takes with great seriousness 

and will never take for granted. 
Concern is passionate about 
its work and we can change 
people’s lives for the better  
with your continued kindness 
and support. 

Frances O’Keeffe
Chairperson
Concern Worldwide

“Our supporters need to 
know that funds raised are 
spent as effectively and 
efficiently as possible.”
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During the 32 years that I have 
been with Concern, I have 
observed the terrible human 
consequences of poverty and 
disaster. While the challenges 
are enormous, what has always 
struck me is the overwhelming 
resilience of the people we 
work with and their ability 
to overcome adversity with 
determination and courage. It is 
this resilience and the potential 
for transformative change that 
we see every day through our 
work which drives our mission 
and fuels the passion and 
commitment of our staff and 
supporters around the world.

I am very proud to work with 
Concern, and now as Chief 
Executive look forward to 
leading the organisation and 
continuing to share how and 
where Concern's funds are 
spent, clearly and transparently 
as we have done for the last  
45 years.

Thar na 32 bliain atá caite 
agam le Concern tá feicthe 
agam na hiarmhairtí uafásacha 
a eascraíonn ón mbochtanas 
agus ó thubaistí. Cé go bhfuil 
dúshláin mhóra ann dóibh, 
téann teacht aniar dochreidte 
na ndaoine lena n-oibríonn 
muid go mór i bhfeidhm orm, 
agus a gcumas an lámh in 
uachtar a fháil ar a gcruatan 
le diongbháilteacht agus 
misneach. Feiceann muid 
an teacht aniar sin agus an 
féidearthacht d'athrú suntasach 
chun feabhais gach lá inár 
gcuid oibre, rud a thugann 
spreagadh dár misean dúinn 
agus a chuireann le díograis 
agus tiomantas ár lucht oibre 
agus lucht tacaíochta ar fud  
na cruinne.

Is ábhar bróid dom a bheith  
ag obair le Concern. Anois,  
mar Phríomhfheidhmeannach 
tá mé ag súil leis an eagraíocht 
a threorú agus le leanúint leis 
an eolas a roinnt maidir le cén 
chaoi agus cén áit ar caitheadh 
cistí Concern, ar bhealach atá 
soiléir agus trédhearcach  
mar atá déanta againn le  
45 bliain anuas.

Message from  
the Chief Executive 
Teachtaireacht ón 
bPríomhfheidhmeannach
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When my work with Concern 
began as a 26-year-old 
volunteer in the Cambodian 
refugee camps in South  
East Asia, I was to learn  
very quickly that I was with a 
team that understood intimately 
the passion and commitment  
it requires to rise each new day 
with relentless enthusiasm in 
pursuit of real impact on the 
lives of the poorest. It  
was this strength of purpose 
that turned my two-year 
contract back in 1982 into  
a life time commitment.

During the 32 years that have 
followed I have observed the 
terrible human consequences 
of poverty and disaster. While 
the challenges are enormous, 
what has always struck me is 
the overwhelming resilience 
of the people we work with 
and their ability to overcome 
adversity with determination 
and courage. 

It is this resilience and the 
potential for transformative 
change that we see every day 
through our work, which drives 
our mission and fuels the 
passion and commitment of  
our staff and supporters  
around the world. 

Every day some 3,000 
members of staff are working 
in 28 of the world’s poorest 
and most challenging countries. 
Hundreds of others often 
put their lives on hold at a 
moment’s notice to respond to 
humanitarian crises. Standing 
beside them - willing them 
on, encouraging, advocating, 
and donating – are a legion 
of supporters, partners and 
dedicated staff in Ireland, the 
UK, the US and further afield. 

This vast network enabled 
Concern, in 2013, directly to 
improve the lives of 6.5 million 
people through a diverse range 
of initiatives that are designed 
in partnership with communities 
to deliver practical results. We 
do not bring a convenient, blue 
print approach; we have never 
only focused on “one size fits 
all” solutions. Tackling poverty 
is complex, requiring multi-
integrated solutions that are 
tailored to each scenario.
 
The impact of this approach 
was evident when I visited the 
village of Gafumba in southern 
Rwanda where I met 48-year- 
old Scholastic Mukamugaga, 
a mother of six. She had just 
‘graduated’ from Concern’s 

18-month integrated livelihoods 
programme which provided 
her with small monthly cash 
transfers along with counselling 
and skills training. This helped 
her create a basic living that 
has taken her out of destitution 
and onto the next economic 
step. Scholastic is now raising 
goats and a cow, using the sales 
of the morning milk to support 
her family, which she never 
before believed possible. For the 
first time in a decade, she has 
confidence in the future and she 
can hold her head high in the 
community where she felt she 
had no value. 

The programme - known as 
‘Graduation’ because of its goal 
of helping people advance out 
of poverty - is transforming the 
lives of thousands of families, 
not only in Rwanda but also in 
Burundi and Haiti and will soon 
be expanded to Zambia. 
 
The Graduation model is only 
one of a number of approaches 
that centre on disaster risk 
reduction, community resilience, 
food security, nutrition, cash 
transfers and safer schools. 
Each model is supported 
by academic and research 
institutes including Tufts,  

Message from the  
Chief Executive Officer
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the University of Sussex, UCD 
and the International Food 
Policy Research Institute 
(IFPRI) who work with us to 
design, monitor and evaluate. 
The success of these smart, 
innovative and well executed 
models demonstrates real 
impact in some of the most 
highly vulnerable contexts and 
we are taking the evidence and 
learning to positively influence 
policy makers globally. 

Many of our initiatives are 
recognised as best practice 
and are now scaled up to 
deliver change nationwide. For 
instance, in Kenya, our cash 
transfer model was adopted 
by the government for its 
social transfers to the urban 
poor and our work in Nutrition 
Development was recognised 
at Zambia’s first ever national 
Nutrition Awards. 

Tackling the scourge of hunger 
has always been central to 
Concern’s work. It’s part of our 
history. It’s in our DNA. Through 
our close partnership with Irish 
Aid and others, now, more than 
ever, we have a remarkable, 
unprecedented opportunity:  
we can free the next generation 
from hunger. 
 

In 2013, we worked with over 
three million people to improve 
their food security. The vast 
majority were women and girls. 
We know what needs to be 
done and we know how to do it. 
However, with less than one per 
cent of the world’s development 
aid budget spent on life-saving, 
basic nutrition interventions,  
we need to keep the pressure 
on decision-makers at the 
highest levels. In this context,  
I would like to pay tribute to my 
predecessor Tom Arnold, who 
continues as Concern’s Special 
Representative on hunger.

As a humanitarian organisation, 
it is our imperative to respond 
rapidly and effectively to the 
critical needs of communities 
devastated by natural 
emergencies and conflict. 
Climate change, natural 
disasters, war and conflict 
have massively increased 
the humanitarian case load, 
resulting in more refugees  
and displaced populations 
seeking assistance than at  
any time in history. 

The protracted and bloody civil 
war in Syria has created the 
single largest humanitarian 
crisis in recent history. After 
three years it has forced 9.5 

million people to abandon their 
homes, and some 2.5 million 
Syrians to flee to neighbouring 
countries. In Lebanon alone, 
Syrian refugees now constitute 
more than 20 per cent of  
the population.

In June 2013 I travelled to 
the region to see first-hand 
our emergency operations. 
Despite the difficult security 
constraints, Concern teams 
have been providing shelter, 
clean water and sanitation, fuel 
and clothing for families to get 
through the harsh winter and 
getting many of the thousands 
of children back into schooling. 
Repeatedly at international 
level, we have been raising our 
voice highlighting the horrific 
humanitarian consequences of 
a conflict that has devastated  
a people and is destroying  
a nation.

Even as we were seeking to 
ease suffering in Syria, we 
were also coping with massive 
flows of refugees and internally 
displaced persons in South 
Sudan which, along with Syria, 
has been designated by the 
UN’s Office of the Coordinator 
of Humanitarian Affairs as a 
‘Level 3’ crisis—the highest 
degree of severity. 

“In 2013, we worked with over three 
million people to improve their food 
security. The vast majority were women 
and girls. We know what needs to be 
done and we know how to do it.”
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At the end of 2013, we 
mobilised a major relief effort 
to respond to Typhoon Haiyan 
in Philippines, a storm that 
affected more than 14 million 
people and displaced over five 
million. Our focus was on the 
more neglected western islands, 
where the level of damage 
and destruction had been 
extensive, particularly to the 
many fishing communities along 
the coast. Designed with the full 
involvement of local authorities, 
we distributed shelter and 
relief packages and set about 
rebuilding fishing boats for 
thousands of affected families. 
Our work was described in 
terms of best practice as the 
‘gold standard’ during a visit 
by the UN Deputy Emergency 
Response Coordinator. 

Not all emergency responses 
made media headlines but many 
were equally as devastating 
on the communities that were 
hit. Throughout 2013, we 
responded to 38 emergencies 
in 22 countries, assisting more 
than seven million people. 
 
Concern’s reputation as a smart, 
effective organisation is built on 
45 years of experience and a 
mission that brings significant 
obligations. We are obliged to 

seek out and work with the very 
poorest, the least well served 
and the most vulnerable; to 
respond rapidly to emergencies; 
to design effective ways of 
working, listening, engaging 
and building on the inherent 
capacities of the communities 
we work with. We also are 
obliged to be accountable 
at all levels, to our donors 
and supporters, and to the 
communities we serve. 

For international aid 
organisations, the ultimate 
indicator of accountability 
is certification from the 
Humanitarian Accountability 
Partnership (HAP). In the 10 
years that HAP has operated, 
only 16 organisations have 
applied for and secured 
certification. Concern is one 
of those. This is a notable 
achievement and an important 
milestone in our commitment 
to incorporate greater 
accountability in all our work. 

As Chief Executive, I look 
forward to leading the 
organisation and continuing 
to share how and where 
Concern’s funds are spent, 
clearly and transparently as  
we have always done.

I fully recognise these 
are challenging times for 
humanitarian organisations. 
However, I have absolute 
confidence that the quality and 
commitment of Concern staff, 
combined with the reputation 
and trust that we have built with 
our donors and supporters, will 
not only allow us to address 
those challenges but will, in fact, 
make us even more effective in 
delivering on our mission. 

In conclusion, I will call on  
the words of Nobel laureate 
and Patron of Concern, the late 
Seamus Heaney, who in tribute 
referred to all those who work 
with and for Concern as those 
who have “chosen to live at that 
high level where they are bound 
to keep facing the challenge 
– clear, noble and exhausting 
– that WB Yeats formulated as 
follows: ‘…to hold in a single 
thought reality and justice.” His 
words will continue to inspire us 
in our fight against poverty.

Dominic MacSorley 
Chief Executive Officer 
Concern Worldwide
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Council members
The following were members 
of the Council of Concern 
Worldwide at the date on  
which the financial statements 
were approved:

Ms Frances O’Keeffe - 
Chairperson

Mr Nurul Amin
Ms Evanna Barry
Ms Helen Burke
Ms Mary Considine
Ms Anne Cummins
Ms Jacinta Flanagan
Mr Colin Gordon
Ms Mary Humphreys
Professor Paul Jeffcutt
Ms Sally-Anne Kinahan
Mr Cyril Maybury
Ms Teresa McColgan
Mr Tom Moran
Mr Tony O’Connor
Ms Barbara O’Reilly
Ms Nora Owen
Mr Jan Rotte 
Mr Mark Shinnick
Mr Tom Shipsey
Ms Siobhan Toale
Mr John Treacy

Notes
Mr Tom Moran was co-opted  
to Council in February 2013. 
Mr Neil Haran resigned from 
Council in April 2013.

Officers and  
other information

Officers
Ms Frances O’Keeffe – 
Chairperson

Ms Jacinta Flanagan
Ms Sally-Anne Kinahan
Mr Cyril Maybury
Ms Teresa McColgan
Ms Nora Owen – Vice Chairperson
Mr Tom Shipsey
Ms Siobhan Toale
Mr John Treacy – Vice Chairperson

All Officers are Council 
members. The Chairperson  
and Secretary of the Council 
plus the Chairpersons of the 
other four Committees are 
ex-officio members of Officers. 
Three additional members are 
elected each year from the 
full Council. Ms Evanna Barry 
resigned from Officers during 
2013 and she was replaced  
by Ms Siobhan Toale. 

Finance Committee
Ms Teresa McColgan – 
Chairperson

Ms Helen Burke
Ms Sally-Anne Kinahan
Mr Alan Moore*
Ms Eileen Quinn*
Mr Michael Tutty*

Programme Monitoring  
and Evaluation Committee
Ms Jacinta Flanagan – 
Chairperson

Mr Nurul Amin
Mr Howard Dalzell*
Mr Fintan Farrelly*
Mr David Regan*

Audit and Risk Committee
Mr Cyril Maybury –  
Chairperson

Ms Connie Gibney*
Ms Una Henry*
Mr Tom O’Higgins*
Mr Jan Rotte
Mr Mark Shinnick
Ms Una Owens*

Legal and  
Administrative  
Information 
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Organisational 
Development Committee
Ms Siobhan Toale – 
Chairperson

Ms Evanna Barry
Ms Mary Considine
Mr Colin Gordon

*indicates that the Committee 
member is not a member of 
Council but has offered their 
time and expertise to assist the 
Committee in its work.

Company Secretary
Mr Tom Shipsey

Principal Banker
Bank of Ireland
2 College Green
Dublin 2

Solicitors
McKeever Rowan
5 Harbourmaster Place
IFSC
Dublin 1

Auditor
KPMG
Chartered Accountants
1 Stokes Place
St Stephen’s Green
Dublin 2

Registered Office
52-55 Lower Camden Street
Dublin 2
Registration Number
39647

Executive Management 
Team during 2013

Mr Dominic MacSorley 
Chief Executive Officer 

Mr Jim Hynes 
Deputy Chief Executive and 
Chief Operations Officer

Ms Rose Caldwell 
Executive Director,  
Concern (UK)

Mr Dominic Crowley 
Emergency Director

Mr Richard Dixon 
Public Affairs Director

Mr Connell Foley 
Strategy, Advocacy and 
Learning Director

Mr Paul O’Brien 
New Business  
Development Director

Ms Anne O’Mahony 
International  
Programmes Director

Ms Louise Supple 
Human Resources Director
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The Council of Concern 
Worldwide presents its 
report and consolidated 
financial statements for  
the year ended December 
31, 2013.

Our Overseas Programmes 
Concern Worldwide works in  
28 of the poorest countries in 
the world. In 2013 we helped 
over 24 million people. 

Those countries are as follows:

Afghanistan
Bangladesh
Burundi
Cambodia
Chad
Democratic Republic of Congo
Ethiopia
Haiti
India
Kenya
Democratic People’s Republic 
of Korea
Lebanon
Liberia
Malawi
Mozambique
Niger
Pakistan
Philippines
Republic of Sudan
Rwanda
Sierra Leone
Somalia
South Sudan
Syria/Turkey
Tanzania
Uganda
Zambia
Zimbabwe

Our work is organised into  
five programmes:

- Food, Income and Markets
- Health
- Education 
- HIV and AIDS
- Emergencies

Report of Council
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Without proper nutrition,  
people can become trapped  
in a cycle of poverty. That is  
why tackling hunger and 
increasing people’s access 
to food, underpins all our 
work. Over 1.8 million people 
benefited directly from our 
food, income and markets 
programmes, and over 
three million were indirect 
beneficiaries. Of the total  
over 50 per cent were  
women and girls. 

We help the poorest farmers 
grow enough to feed 
themselves and their families 
by distributing seeds and 
equipment, improving access 
to resources and training them 
in innovative and sustainable 
farming techniques. This helps 
to fulfil their short-term food 
needs as well as building their 
resilience to future shocks 
such as drought. We run skills 
training for marginalised people, 
helping them to become 
numerate and literate or learn 
a basic trade in order to secure 
a sustainable, independent 
future. We help people gain 
access to markets by improving 
infrastructures, such as building 
roads and bridges, and by 
linking them to cooperatives so 

that they can act collaboratively 
and secure better trade terms. 
We also give financial 
assistance to those who need 
it most, and offer microfinance 
schemes and grants to help 
get small enterprises off the 
ground. Our cash-for-work 
schemes help people earn a 
basic wage while assisting 
their community, such as 
by repairing roads. We also 
advocate for land, water and 
other resource rights, as well 
as better government support 
of agriculture and enterprise 
development for the very poor. 
Below, we give some examples 
of our work in 2013.

Helping the most 
marginalised

To ensure our help goes where 
it is needed, we work with 
communities to identify those 
who are the most vulnerable, 
such as women, the elderly, 
people living with HIV and 
AIDS or those who have been 
displaced. Our aim is to provide 
them with the tools and skills 
to support themselves in the 
long-term.

In the Republic of Sudan, over 
2,300 vulnerable households, 

comprising mainly of people 
returning home and internally 
displaced people in the Jebel 
Moon area benefited from 
the distribution of seed and 
irrigation equipment. We also 
worked with the government 
to facilitate training for 710 
farmers. This support led to 
an increase in the number 
of households planting and 
harvesting a greater variety of 
crops, and growing cash crops 
to sell at markets. 

In Tanzania, as part of our work 
to help the poorest households 
acquire title deeds for their 
lands, 14 land rights awareness 
meetings were conducted 
in 11 villages, reaching over 
3,900 people. In Bangladesh, 
we worked with our partner, 
Coalition for Urban Poor, to 
advocate for the rights of 
pavement dwellers to access 
voter registration, national ID 
cards, birth certificates and 
education for their children. 
To date, 3,507 children have 
received birth registration 
certificates. 

In Ethiopia, we helped almost 
800 people living with HIV 
set up Community Self-Help 
Savings groups, enabling them 

34 36 37
Page Page Page

Food, 
Income  
and 
Markets
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to build their own financial 
safety nets for their future. 

Improving food security

We work with some of the 
world’s poorest people, 
increasing the resilience of 
households, reducing their 
vulnerability to shocks, and 
helping them to cope in times 
of disaster. 

In the Southern Nations, 
Nationalities and Peoples’ 
Region (SNNPR) of Ethiopia, 
we distributed fresh food 
vouchers and carried out 
cooking demonstrations, 
enabling 690 children and 
over 2,600 pregnant and 
lactating women to increase 
their access to fresh food. In 
the Wolayita zone, over 1,300 
households benefited from 
seed interventions and more 
than 1,600 poor and vulnerable 
households were provided 
with goats and sheep using a 
revolving loan system. 

In Liberia and Tanzania, we 
helped establish Farmer Field 
Schools, with farmers benefiting 
from training in improved 
agricultural techniques 
such as crop diversification, 
conservation, and the use 

of organic fertilisers and 
pesticides. Some of the poorest 
farmers were also trained in 
poultry production. 

Food insecurity is a complex 
issue, and in order to be most 
effective, many of our livelihood 
projects are integrated into other 
programme types. In Zambia, 
the Irish Aid and Kerry Group 
funded RAIN project (Realigning 
Agriculture to Improve Nutrition) 
provided support for women’s 
groups in an effort to increase 
the availability of diverse and 
micronutrient rich food in 
households. In 2013, the RAIN 
project reached in excess of 
11,700 people with assistance 
including agricultural training 
and small livestock support, 
nutrition and health education, 
and the provision of water 
through the rehabilitation  
of boreholes. 

In the Democratic People’s 
Republic of Korea, our 
conservation agriculture 
programme was scaled up in five 
new counties, benefiting over 
3,000 households. 

In Rwanda, in an effort to 
improve the diet diversity of 
pregnant and lactating women 
and children under two, we 

provided 799 households 
with tools, seeds, goats and 
chickens. As well as increasing 
the consumption of animal 
protein, the goats will enable the 
households to earn extra income. 

In the Democratic People’s 
Republic of Korea, Concern 
supported a goat‘s milk 
processing unit that produced 
20,043 kilos of milk products, 
which were distributed to groups 
in clinics, hospitals, nurseries, 
kindergartens and schools. We 
assisted the completion of a 
soybean factory in Kumchon 
town that produced 483,000kg 
of soybean paste, sauce and 
oil. This facility is now providing 
enough soybean products to 
meet the requirements of over 
22,000 people.

Building sustainable, 
independent futures

We help people to develop 
sustainable incomes to support 
themselves in the long-term, 
through training, financial 
support and increasing their 
access to markets. 

In Bangladesh, we offered 
vocational and entrepreneurship 
training to squatters and 
pavement dwellers, and 
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supported them with small 
grants to increase their income 
and employment opportunities. 
By 2013, the proportion of 
pavement dwellers employed in 
small businesses had increased 
from 4.5 per cent in 2011 to 
18 per cent.

In Kenya, we recruited 585 
individuals into vocational 
training, with courses including 
carpentry, masonry, computer 
maintenance, electronics 
and catering. In order to 
increase future employment 
opportunities, we are exploring 
a partnership with the Kenya 
Private Sector Alliance 
which runs apprenticeship 
programmes through their 
member organisations.

In Ethiopia, a self-help project 
targeting women in some of 
the most remote rural areas 
has trained 1,656 women in 
income generating activities. 
These women are now able 
to meet their household 
needs and cover educational 
expenses for their children. 
Over 600 women are also 
participating in an adult literacy 
programme, and are learning to 
read, write and calculate their 
household expenditure and 
business income. 

In Haiti, through our community 
tourism project, we are working 
with the community and local 
organisations to develop 
tourism to benefit those with 
little or no income. The project 
includes training, road building 
and the construction of four 
guesthouses. 

In Kenya, we gave loans to over 
1,400 people to expand their 
business, helped them to open 
bank accounts, and provided 
basic training in business 
development and management, 
book-keeping, marketing, and 
branding. In Sierra Leone, we 
assisted five business groups in 
setting up community savings 
and loans schemes. 

In South Sudan, we helped 
establish 45 women’s groups, 
and supported them in 
vegetable production, improving 
their access to food and a 
source of income.

In the Democratic Republic 
of Congo, we are helping to 
improve the income and status 
of over 23,248 vulnerable 
individuals in the Manono 
area with a combination 
of agricultural distributions 
and cash-for-work on the 
rehabilitation of roads and 

bridges, and the management 
of sustainable water systems.

In Afghanistan, Concern 
supported 37 micro-hydro 
power systems, benefiting 
just over 23,500 people who 
previously did not have access 
to electricity. 

In Mozambique, the poorest 
farmers suffer from low food 
production and often depend 
on local markets to buy their 
food as they are not able to 
grow enough to feed their 
families. We work with poor 
farmers to help improve their 
food security by increasing the 
amount of produce they grow 
to feed their families. In 2013, 
the farmers we worked with 
produced almost half of the 
food they consumed, lessening 
their reliance on markets. 

Leading the way

Many of our initiatives are 
recognised as best practice. 

In Kenya, our cash transfer 
model was adopted by the 
government for its social 
transfers to the urban poor. 
Our nutrition and livelihoods 
work was featured in the 
“Global Hunger Index 2013” 
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as an example of resilience 
building. In Burundi, our cash 
transfers work has allowed us 
to engage with the World Bank 
and Burundian government in 
the development of a national 
social protection programme.

In Zambia, Concern is part of a 
consortium responsible for the 
management of the multi-donor 
Scaling Up Nutrition Fund which 
will invest over $27 million 
over two years and support 
the Government of Zambia to 
pilot the scaling up of nutrition 
interventions.

Concern Zambia received 
an award for their support 
in setting up the CSO-SUN 
Alliance and for ‘Nutrition 
Development’ at the first 
Zambia Nutrition Awards. 

A lasting legacy

In 2013, Concern wound down 
its programming in Zimbabwe, 
India and Cambodia. 

In Cambodia, Concern’s 
lasting legacy is perhaps best 
encapsulated in the story of 
the micro-finance institution, 
Angkor Mikroheranhvatho 

(Kampuchea) Co. Ltd, (AMK). 
Concern piloted the AMK 
project in 1997, as a small 
provincial credit scheme 
with a couple of hundred 
clients. By 2003, AMK was 
functioning independently, and 
ten years later, is one of the 
largest financial institutions in 
Cambodia with over 340,000 
customers and a nationwide 
network of 128 branches. 
Concern also leaves behind a 
number of community based 
organisations in Cambodia, 
which strive to ensure that the 
poorest people are included in 
the long-term development of 
their communities and country. 

In India, our efforts to ensure 
that the poorest and most 
vulnerable people have 
access to food entitlements 
and pension schemes, mean 
that they are now included 
in future government social 
protection programmes, going 
some way to ensuring they 
have a more secure future. On 
leaving, our focus has been 
to ensure the sustainability of 
programme activities. This was 
achieved by linking partners 
with other donors and our 
Alliance2015 partners.

We also leave Zimbabwe with 
much to be proud of. We led the 
way in many respects, including 
being the first NGO to pilot 
cash distributions instead of 
food distribution schemes on a 
large scale with the World Food 
Programme, and the first to give 
farmers the choice of receiving 
agricultural vouchers instead 
of direct donations of seed and 
fertiliser. We pioneered the first 
community complaints response 
mechanism in Zimbabwe. 

In each of the countries we are 
departing, the impact of our 
programmes on the poorest has 
been carefully measured. All 
that we have learned has been 
shared widely, leaving behind a 
lasting legacy.
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Concern believes that good 
health and access to healthcare 
are fundamental human rights. 
Our health programme focuses 
on improving maternal, neonatal 
and child health, tackling 
malnutrition, and improving 
access to clean, safe water and 
adequate sanitation. We reached 
just over two million people 
directly in 2013 and almost 
seven million indirectly. Over 61 
per cent were women and girls.

Millions of children die before 
their fifth birthday because 
of poor nutrition or a lack of 
access to healthcare. We tackle 
these problems by teaching 
parents and health workers how 
to spot and prevent malnutrition 
in children under five, training 
health workers to provide basic 
healthcare in their communities, 
and educating mothers about 
how best to care for themselves 
and their infants. We also help 
save thousands of lives every 
year through our supplementary 
feeding clinics, which treat 
malnourished children and 
pregnant women. 

We work to strengthen local 
and national healthcare systems 
and extend health services in 
extremely remote communities, 

to ensure that we reach the 
poorest and most excluded.

We ensure people have access 
to clean water supplies and 
adequate sewerage systems. 
We educate people on good 
hygiene practices, all of which 
help to reduce the risk and 
spread of communicable 
diseases. Below are some 
examples of our work in 2013.

Infant nutrition

By improving nutrition in 
the crucial 1,000 days from 
pregnancy to a child’s second 
birthday, we can help families, 
communities and countries 
break the cycle of poverty  
and hunger. 

In Rwanda, where we are 
working with Congolese 
refugees, Concern trained 
government health workers in 
the treatment of malnutrition, 
infant and young child feeding 
techniques, and management 
of childhood illnesses. In 
Kigeme refugee camp, we 
helped over 500 households 
(targeting those with pregnant 
women, children under two 
and malnourished children) 
by training them in gardening 

techniques so that they could 
grow their own nutritious food. 
In many of the countries in 
which we work, hunger often 
reaches critical levels. In 
Karamoja, Uganda, Concern  
is working with partners 
on a five year food security 
programme Resilience through 
Wealth Agriculture and Nutrition 
(RWANU) where almost 40,000 
children under the age of two 
and over 31,000 pregnant 
and lactating women received 
supplementary rations. In 
addition we screened more than 
65,700 children and admitted 
over 1,600 into our Therapeutic 
Feeding Programme. 

In Chad, we worked with  
the World Food Programme, 
across 88 villages to feed over 
5,600 children, at least 1,200 
lactating women and 1,100 
pregnant women during an 
earlier than expected ‘hunger 
gap,’ (the period of scarcity 
between harvests). 

In Somalia, where acute 
malnutrition continues to pose 
a threat to internally displaced 
people, almost 5,300 children 
and women were treated in 
Concern’s emergency nutrition 
programme in Mogadishu. 

38 39
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In Rwanda, we trained model 
parents in villages to meet  
with the mothers of children 
who are moderately 
malnourished to conduct 
cooking demonstrations using 
locally available foods and 
promote healthy behaviour. 

In Niger, we treated just under 
266,000 children in health 
centres as part of Niger’s Child 
Survival Project. In Malawi, 
we maintain a leadership role 
within the nutrition sector, and 
were asked to serve as the civil 
society representative on the 
national donors’ nutrition group, 
and to sit on the national Scaling 
Up Nutrition (SUN) task force. 

Better healthcare for those 
most in need

Maternal mortality rates are 
high in Malawi, where women 
have a one in 36 risk of dying 
because of complications in 
pregnancy or during childbirth. 
We worked with the District 
Health Office to monitor 
maternal deaths and procure 
essential emergency obstetric 
equipment for local hospitals. 

We also worked with the 
Ministry of Health to train and 

support 20 health providers in 
obstetric and newborn care, 
and train 20 community health 
workers to incorporate family 
planning into child health visits. 

In the remote area of Jebel 
Moon in the Republic of 
Sudan, we supported four 
clinics by providing equipment 
and drug supplies, and support 
to cover running costs. Over 
20,000 consultations have been 
provided for the community over 
the course of the year. Over 
6,000 children under five have 
received treatment in clinics, 
while over 2,000 have been 
vaccinated against measles. 
Over 3,500 ante-natal clinics 
have been run for pregnant 
women, over 2,000 women 
have received mosquito nets to 
prevent malaria and 515 have 
received clean delivery kits.

In Somalia, where there is little 
access to healthcare, and the 
child and maternal mortality 
rates are among the highest 
in the world, we worked with 
a fellow organisation, Action 
Contre la Faim, to distribute 
over 1,400 safe delivery kits 
to pregnant women.

In Uganda, as part of our work 
to improve services for the 
prevention and treatment of 
maternal and child illnesses,  
we supported 25 health centres 
and 43 outreach posts.

In Bangladesh, Concern 
entered into partnership 
with the Grameen Phone-
Telemedicine working group 
to provide health services to 
the extremely poor in the Char 
and Haor areas. This innovative 
project will link a specialised 
pool of doctors in Dhaka with 
health providers in remote 
locations, enabling patients 
to access health advice from 
qualified professionals. 

Clean, safe water

Concern works with local 
communities to improve 
and manage their sanitation 
systems. In the Democratic 
People’s Republic of Korea, 
we helped to construct 1,500 
household, communal and 
institutional latrines, benefiting 
up to 21,000 people in three 
counties. The design of the 
latrines took into account the 
specific needs of women and 
disabled people. Communities 
were closely involved in 
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decision-making, project 
implementation and health and 
hygiene promotion training. 

We work with governments, 
communities and other partners 
to ensure our programmes 
are both sustainable and 
effective. In Uganda, as part of 
a project to secure sustainable 
access to safe water and 
basic sanitation, Concern, in 
partnership with Pader District 
local government rehabilitated 
11 boreholes, and repaired 
piped water systems for three 
health centres. We also trained 
local water user committees, 
to ensure the water sources 
were well-managed. In 
response to the refugee influx 
from Democratic Republic 
of Congo, we partnered with 
Bundibugyo District local 
government in constructing a 
sewage treatment facility for 
Bubukwanga refugee camp. 
In Liberia, we trained 27 
pump mechanics (including 
seven women), to support their 
communities in the repair and 
maintenance of water points. 
In Democratic Republic of 
Congo (DRC), Concern began 
work as the lead member 
of the water, sanitation and 
hygiene (WASH) Consortium, 

which brings together five 
international non-governmental 
organisations to implement 
a four-year water, sanitation 
and hygiene programme in six 
provinces of DRC. 

In Afghanistan, Concern 
secured safe drinking water 
for over 52,600 people across 
the seven districts of Takhar 
and Badakhshan through the 
establishment of 45 drinking 
water projects, with a total 
length of 153,157 metres of 
network and piping systems. 

Our work has had a 
considerable impact on 
people’s wellbeing. In Tanzania, 
our focus on the establishment 
and rehabilitation of water 
supply infrastructure led to a 
huge increase in the number 
of targeted households having 
access to improved water 
sources, (from 42 per cent in 
2011 to 93 per cent in 2013). 
Access to adequate latrines 
rose from nine to 61 per cent.

In Haiti, Concern continued 
to provide sanitation services 
to people during the ongoing 
closure of the temporary  
camps established in the 
aftermath of the 2010 

earthquake. After a number of 
cholera cases were registered, 
we distributed water purification 
tablets and oral rehydration 
salts as well as carrying out 
door-to-door awareness- 
raising to 1,200 families. 
To better understand the water 
and sanitation challenges 
in a slum area of Freetown, 
Sierra Leone, we conducted 
a household sanitation survey 
using digital data gathering 
devices. The information 
collected will be used to design 
sound and affordable latrines. 

Innovations for Maternal, 
Newborn and Child Health

Innovations for Maternal, 
Newborn & Child Health 
(Innovations) is a project 
managed by Concern 
Worldwide (US) Inc. (see note 
26, page 117) It is focused on 
finding and testing ambitious 
new ideas that have the 
potential to overcome barriers 
and significantly improve 
access to and delivery of 
maternal, newborn and child 
health services. 

In Malawi, we have formed a 
partnership with VillageReach 
to scale up the mobile health 
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hotline that was previously 
pilot-tested under this project. 
The toll-free hotline is staffed 
by trained health workers who 
use a touchscreen interface 
to guide their questions 
and advice. A total of 350 
volunteers have been trained 
(one per village), to promote 
the mobile hotline through 
door-to-door visits and village 
events. Even at this early stage, 
there is evidence that the 
hotline has led to a reduction 
in unnecessary trips to health 
facilities and has enabled 
women to access health 
information discreetly and 
easily. In India, male health 
workers are being paired  
with female community based 
health workers to engage  
with men in the promotion  
of maternal, newborn, and  
child health practices. 

In Sierra Leone, two projects, 
Helping Health Workers Cope, 
and Quality Circles, continue 
to help health workers develop 
coping mechanisms to deal 
with stress, foster trust, and 
be more effective in their jobs. 
In addition, a new project, 
Essential New Born Care, is 
seeking ways to help traditional 
birth attendants make the 
transition to a broader role of 
supporting community based 
maternal, newborn and child 
health care. 
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One child in 10 living in the 
developing world never gets 
the chance to go to school. A 
decent primary education lays 
the ground for a better future 
– improved health, income 
opportunities and wellbeing. 
In 2013, we reached over 
400,000 people directly and 
1.4 million indirectly. Over 49 
per cent were women and girls. 

Concern’s education 
programme enables children, 
particularly girls and those from 
the most marginalised groups, 
to access basic education. As 
well as addressing physical 
barriers such as lack of school 
space and facilities, we also 
work to tackle some of the 
underlying reasons why children 
do not attend school such as  
ill-health, extreme poverty, 
hunger and social stigma. 

We work with parents, pupils, 
teachers and school authorities 
to ensure children’s safety 
and well-being, by tackling 
issues of corporal punishment, 
discrimination and gender-
based violence. We also work 
to improve school sanitation, 
installing latrines and ensuring 
access to safe water supplies, 
to limit the spread of disease. 

We focus on improving the 
quality of education through 
better school management 
systems and classroom 
teaching, partnering with 
governments to train school 
committees and teachers, and 
ensuring schools have the 
learning resources they need. 
Some examples of our work  
are given below.

Access to education

In some of the countries where 
we work, girls’ education simply 
is not seen as worthwhile, while 
in the poorest communities, 
children may have to work to 
help support their families. In 
families affected by ill-health 
or HIV and AIDS, children 
may have to act as carers, 
and minority ethnic and 
disabled children may simply 
be excluded from education 
because of discrimination. 
These are the children we try 
to help.

In Malawi, a project promoting 
equal access to education for 
girls and vulnerable children 
focused on students with special 
needs, particularly those with 
physical impairments such as 
vision or hearing loss. Teachers 

were given specialist training 
and child protection committees 
were supported to advocate for 
the rights of these children.

In Kenya, we worked with 
the very poorest communities 
to ensure greater access to 
education, and in 2013 we 
reached over 146,000 of the 
most vulnerable children. In 
one particular project in the 
Nairobi slums, ideological 
barriers were removed by 
the concerted efforts of 
59 community groups who 
embarked on an ‘All Children 
Must Go To School’ campaign. 
The communities worked with 
the local administration to 
compel parents to keep school 
age children in school, with 
sanctions being imposed on 
those who refused to comply. 
Communities repaired roads 
and built protective walls to 
improve security and access to 
schools for slum children. As a 
result, 350 children were taken 
back to school.

We built latrines and safe water 
supplies for schools in many 
of the countries in which we 
work. In Haiti we finalised the 
construction and rehabilitation 
of two schools in Saut-d’Eau. 
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We also provided school 
benches and other materials 
such as blackboards.

In Rwanda, many of the schools 
we support initiated Girls Clubs, 
and were encouraged girls to 
complete school and sit national 
exams. A number of schools 
had initiated the construction of 
girls’ bathrooms in order to help 
reduce absenteeism amongst 
girls and reduce the number of 
drop-outs.
 
In Kabul, Afghanistan, we 
supported computer literacy 
and language courses for 
adolescent girls; 80 girls 
successfully graduated from 
the project. In Bangladesh, 
we worked with our partner, 
Coalition for Urban Poor, to 
ensure the rights of pavement 
dwellers to give their children 
access to schools.

Safer schools

Once children arrive at school, 
we want them to be safe and 
secure. Tackling school-related 
gender-based violence is 
essential to keep girls safe 
and encourage them to stay 
in school. In Burundi, we are 
working with the Ministry of 

Education to develop specific 
modules on gender-based 
violence to be included in the 
national curriculum. 

We strive to find innovative 
and creative ways to work 
with students and teachers. 
In Liberia, Concern, in 
partnership with Child Fund 
International, worked with Radio 
Lifeline, a local radio station 
in Lofa, to engage students 
and community members 
in dialogue around issues 
of child mistreatment, early 
marriage, girls’ education and 
school-related gender-based 
violence. In Malawi, where 
sexual violence is commonly 
experienced by students, 
we are working with local 
partner, Theatre for a Change, 
to empower students in 17 
primary schools to become 
more active in identifying, 
reporting, and addressing 
violence against girls. 

In order to protect children 
from corporal punishment in 
Kenya, 192 teachers from 50 
schools serving slum children 
in Nairobi were trained and 
mentored on child-friendly 
teaching techniques and 
alternative discipline methods. 

As a result, all have abandoned 
caning and adopted child-
friendly correcting methods, 
while a total of 17 schools are 
implementing child protection 
policies. In Niger, Concern 
worked within villages to 
raise awareness of corporal 
punishment in schools, and 
helped schools to develop 
codes of conduct including 
commitments to avoid corporal 
punishment and to respect the 
rights of children. 

Improving quality

To ensure children make the 
most of their time in school, 
Concern works to improve  
the quality of teaching and 
learning materials. In Sierra 
Leone, we continued to 
support 450 teachers in the 
distance education teacher 
certificate course. 

In Haiti, we improved literacy 
teaching for primary school 
children by working with 
teachers to improve their 
lesson planning and class 
management skills, and 
providing writing books for 
children. By encouraging 
the engagement of parents, 
we helped to ensure both 
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children’s and teachers’ 
presence and punctuality 
in school. The improved 
governance of Parent Teacher 
Associations was achieved 
through democratic elections 
and training of members. 
We continue to develop 
strong relationships with the 
Ministry of Education through 
participation in the work of the 
Early Literacy Platform, which 
brings together key experts in 
the early reading field.

Sustaining and  
improving education

Our aim is to ensure that 
governments and communities 
can run their own schools 
effectively, without our help. In 
Kenya, 270 school managers 
were trained in modern 
management practices and  
now 49 schools (25 in Nairobi 
slums and 24 in Nyanza) have 
school development plans that 
reflect community participation. 
These schools display their 
financial information on public 
notice boards.

In Tahoua region, Niger, 
we worked with school 
management committees 
to establish action plans 
for the upcoming year, and 
76 school directors were 
trained in improved school 
management. In the Illela 
region of Niger, we began the 
process of handing over our 
education programming to the 
government by organising a 
series of training workshops 
and evaluations to ensure that 
they can continue to offer good 
quality, basic education.
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Our HIV and AIDS programmes 
reached over 57,000 people 
directly and more than 38,000 
indirectly in 2013. Over 50 per 
cent were women and girls. 
Concern’s HIV and AIDS 
programme has three main 
approaches to tackling the 
impact of HIV and AIDS.

We raise awareness by 
educating community members 
and healthcare staff about 
unsafe sexual practices and 
other risky behaviours which 
lead to HIV transmission, 
and by supporting positive 
behaviour among people living 
with HIV or AIDS.

We aim to increase access to 
effective care and treatment for 
people living with HIV and AIDS. 
We do this by working to reduce 
ignorance, social stigma and 
other barriers associated with 
HIV testing and treatment. We 
work to broaden the availability 
and uptake of antiretroviral 
therapy (ART), and increase 
its effectiveness by improving 
patients’ awareness of the 
importance of a balanced diet 
and taking medication correctly.

In the countries we work in, the 
families affected by HIV and 

AIDS are usually among the 
most vulnerable members in 
the local community. We strive 
to improve the quality of their 
lives, by seeking to ensure that 
they have access to adequate 
food and a sustainable form 
of income. We also secure 
education for children who are 
orphans or made vulnerable 
because of HIV and AIDS. 

Examples of our HIV and  
AIDS work in 2013 are  
detailed below:

Raising awareness

Although tremendous strides 
have been made in the 
treatment of people with HIV 
and AIDS, the extreme poor 
and those living in areas with 
limited access to healthcare 
and education still suffer 
enormously from the effects of 
the virus. Ignorance and taboos 
around HIV and AIDS persist 
and people are sometimes 
shunned by their communities 
and families, leaving them 
vulnerable when they are most 
in need of support.

The first step to tackling the 
prevalence of HIV is to raise 
awareness about how it is 

transmitted. This also helps 
encourage people to get 
help and be tested. Concern 
incorporates HIV and AIDS 
awareness activities into 
many of its programmes. We 
increase awareness in several 
ways, such as through working 
with schools, community 
discussions and training staff 
and volunteers.

In Pakistan, children were 
taught HIV awareness and 
prevention as part of a life-
skills course. In Burundi, HIV 
and AIDS awareness raising 
activities were implemented 
with a local partner, APECOS. 
Activities focused on prevention 
methods, sexually transmitted 
diseases and promoting HIV 
testing for farmer association 
members. Since the sessions 
began, APECOS has reported 
a significant increase in the 
number of people requesting 
condoms, and the local health 
centres have reported an 
increase in the number of 
people attending HIV and AIDS 
voluntary testing. 

In Bangladesh, as a result 
of Concern’s activities in 
raising awareness about HIV 
and AIDS, 37 per cent of 
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the pavement dwellers and 
squatters we work with in 
Dhaka and Chittagong City 
can correctly identify ways of 
preventing the transmission 
of HIV. Following our work 
in the remote Char areas of 
Bangladesh, the number of 
women and men who could 
correctly identify the ways in 
which HIV is spread, increased 
from seven per cent in 2012 to 
19 per cent in 2013.

We tailor our activities to the 
communities we work with. In 
Afghanistan, where the cultural 
attitudes of men leave women 
and girls particularly vulnerable, 
Concern gives training to 
barbers, who then pass on their 
knowledge to male customers.

Improving care and support

As well as working to ensure 
that people get access to 
treatment and support, many of 
our food, income and markets 
activities specifically benefit 
those living with HIV and AIDS. 
Since antiretroviral therapy 
requires a regular healthy diet 
to work effectively, we help 
people with AIDS to grow and 
buy nutritious food. We also 
work to help them increase 

their income so that they can 
better support themselves and 
their families. 

In Zambia, the 22 per cent 
HIV prevalence rate in Mongu 
has resulted in an increase 
in the number of children 
orphaned because of AIDS. We 
supported orphans, vulnerable 
children and their families 
by providing sustainable 
income-generating activities 
for parents and guardians, 
offering entrepreneurship 
skills and start-up capital, and 
providing life-skills training for 
the children affected. By the 
end of 2013, we had helped 
411 orphans and vulnerable 
children, trained 185 guardians, 
and some households had 
increased their number of 
meals from one, to two or 
three a day. The programme 
also targeted teachers and 
communities to ensure that 
affected children were treated 
with dignity at school and were 
not being stigmatised by fellow 
pupils or teachers.

In Ethiopia, 157 people 
affected by HIV and AIDS 
received business skills training 
and start-up capital, which 
enabled them to engage in 

vegetable, cereal and charcoal 
trading, animal fattening and 
food preparation businesses. 
Participants of the programme 
have become more self-reliant, 
able to construct their own 
houses and send their children 
to school. 

In South Sudan, we 
are improving access to 
antiretroviral therapy (ART)
by working with pregnant 
and breastfeeding women to 
encourage the use of ART 
to prevent the intrauterine 
transmission of HIV. 

Reducing stigma

All our HIV and AIDS 
awareness activities help 
to reduce the social stigma 
often associated with the 
illness. In Liberia, Concern 
has worked with traditional 
communities to encourage 
open discussions on sensitive 
issues including unsafe sex and 
its consequences. Our work 
has contributed to a major shift 
in community attitudes and 
practices and an increased 
demand for condoms in the 
target communities. 
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Concern has adopted a 
proactive approach to tackling 
HIV and AIDS in the Republic 
of Sudan, where the issue 
remains a sensitive subject. 
We train staff and volunteers 
in basic facts, modes of 
transmission and preventative 
measures, and work within 
communities. In 2013, we 
trained 208 female staff and 
volunteers, and 172 male staff 
and volunteers, and we reached 
over 1,800 men and over 6,600 
women. Although discussion is 
still limited, this work represents 
a breakthrough in attitudes. 

Working in partnership 

We cannot tackle HIV and 
AIDS on our own, and much 
of our work is carried out 
in partnership with local 
communities, partners and 
governments. In Tonkolili in 
Sierra Leone, we worked to 
improve the knowledge, attitude 
and practice of community 
members in relation to HIV and 
AIDS. Drama performances 
were used to attract community 
members, raise awareness 
and promote behavioural 
change. Concern worked with 
the Tonkolili District Voluntary 
Counselling and Confidential 

Testing Centre to ensure 
that services were offered 
immediately after the drama 
performances. A total of 3,615 
people (1,675 men and 1,940 
women) in 20 villages attended 
the dramas, and 1,191 of them 
(424 men and 767 women) 
opted for an HIV test. Concern 
has started working with the 
District Health Management 
Team and the Network of  
HIV Positives in Sierra Leone  
so that those who tested 
positive can access treatment 
and counselling. 

In Malawi, more than 10 per 
cent of the adult population 
is HIV positive. Concern has 
formed a partnership with 
international organisation, 
Grassroots Soccer, to provide 
technical assistance in rolling 
out the SKILLZ project, an 
innovative, sports-based life-
skills curriculum teaching HIV 
prevention. So far, 30 life-skills 
coaches have been trained, and 
486 young people have started 
the 11 session curriculum.
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In 2013, we responded to 38 
emergencies in 22 countries, 
directly helping over two million 
people and indirectly assisting 
more than seven million. Over 55 
per cent were women and girls. 
We also entered new countries 
in response to emergencies: 
Syria and Philippines.

Our aim in emergency 
situations is to work with local, 
national and international 
partners to save lives and  
meet the immediate needs  
of the most vulnerable 
people, providing healthcare, 
shelter, clean water and food. 
However, we don’t just deal 
with the short-term needs of 
communities affected  
by disaster; we also work  
to ensure their long-term 
recovery and resilience. Well 
after the crisis period has 
abated, we continue to help 
local communities rebuild 
livelihoods, and strengthen 
infrastructure, education and 
healthcare systems.

In countries susceptible to 
disaster, we undertake Disaster 
Risk Reduction (DRR) activities 
to limit and prevent the impact 
of future crises. This might 
involve introducing drought-

resistant crops, planting trees 
to reduce landslides, building 
schools and clinics that are 
hurricane or earthquake 
resistant or establishing early 
warning systems to alert people 
when a crisis is imminent.
Some examples of our 2013 
emergency activities are  
as follows:

Typhoon Haiyan

Typhoon Haiyan, which struck 
Philippines in November 
2013, was one of the strongest 
storms ever to hit land. More 
than 13 million people were 
affected by the typhoon, 
with over one million houses 
damaged or destroyed. 
Concern responded to the 
immediate needs of 48,831 
people in the municipalities of 
Concepcion and Carles, where 
a large number of the affected 
communities were located in 
small islands off the coast. 
Here, the majority of homes 
were of poor quality, generally 
made of bamboo and thatch 
and over 80 per cent of them 
were destroyed when the 
typhoon hit. We worked with 
partners to provide shelter kits, 
blankets, soap, mosquito nets 
and other essential items. 

The Syrian crisis

Concern began working in 
Syria in 2013 to help people 
affected by the country’s 
civil war, which has left 9.3 
million Syrians in need of 
humanitarian assistance. With 
the health structure severely 
damaged, limited availability 
of clean water for drinking, 
cooking and washing, and 
damaged sanitation systems, 
diseases such as typhoid 
and leishmaniasis are on the 
rise. Our response focused 
on providing clean water and 
control of disease-spreading 
insects. In 2013, we also 
entered Lebanon in response 
to the hundreds of thousands 
of Syrian refugees fleeing into 
the country as a result of the 
conflict. We helped over 12,400 
people directly through our 
water, sanitation and health,  
and shelter activities. We 
not only supported the 
Syrian refugees, but also the 
Lebanese host communities,  
to help alleviate the pressure  
on resources and services 
caused by the refugee influx.

We worked to create safe, 
clean living environments by 
renovating old, unused buildings 
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and set up two formal tented 
settlements where the most 
vulnerable refugees could 
gain access to shelter and 
other basic necessities such 
as clean water and toilets. We 
also worked across a number 
of other settlements to improve 
water connections, repair broken 
sewerage pipes, install latrines 
and carry out hygiene promotion 
to ensure access to adequate 
water and sanitation. We worked 
with UNHCR to help the most 
vulnerable people protect 
themselves in winter, distributing 
blankets and stoves, and 
providing timber, plastic sheeting, 
plywood and tools to reinforce 
weak tents against the elements. 

Rebuilding lives

In 2013, we responded to 
people impacted by Hurricane 
Sandy and an outbreak of 
cholera in Haiti. We wound 
down many of our relief 
activities arising from the 2010 
earthquake and we helped the 
Haitian authorities in their work 
to relocate over 13,500 people 
living in camps in Saint Martin 
to permanent and safe housing. 

In Pakistan, we continued 
our joint programming with 
Alliance2015 members to 

respond to the relief and early 
recovery needs caused by the 
flooding of 2011 and 2012. We 
provided shelter for affected 
families, and latrines and hand 
pumps were constructed and 
repaired through cash-for-work 
activities within the community. 
Food security was increased by 
the distribution of agricultural 
inputs to small landholding 
farmers and vulnerable women. 

In North Kivu, in the 
Democratic Republic of 
Congo, we helped 4,000 
conflict-affected households 
to rebuild their livelihoods and 
become more food secure. 
We provided seeds and tools, 
agricultural training and 
offered cash-for-work for road 
rehabilitation. A total of 11,280 
individuals participated in the 
cash-for-work activities and 
315 households headed by 
elderly or disabled persons, who 
were unable to participate with 
labour, received a cash transfer.

In response to flooding in Aweil 
North, South Sudan, Concern 
distributed kits containing 
blankets, cooking utensils, 
plastic sheeting and hygiene 
materials to 288 households in 
three camps, where people 

were living in poorly 
constructed shelters. 

In Somalia, we wound down 
our programmes relating 
to the 2012 food crisis but 
we continued emergency 
interventions supporting the 
efforts of the most vulnerable 
people such as internally 
displaced people, returnees,  
the urban poor, pastoralists,  
and all those affected by 
conflict and chronic food 
insecurity, to recover from 
crises and rebuild their lives 
and livelihoods. We provided  
a combination of food vouchers 
and cash transfers, reaching  
a total of 6,907 households.

Reducing risks

Disaster Risk Reduction 
(DRR) is a key element of our 
programming in Afghanistan. 
In 2013, Concern began 
working on the first phase of a 
community based disaster risk 
management project. So far, 
task forces have been formed 
in 27 villages to take the lead 
on specific activities such 
as early warning, search and 
rescue and first aid, and stores 
of essential items have been 
pre-stocked in three locations.
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Given Pakistan’s severe 
vulnerability to natural disaster, 
Concern has established itself 
as a leader in working with 
communities on disaster risk 
reduction. In Punjab, Sindh 
and Balochistan provinces, 
where communities are highly 
vulnerable to natural disasters 
such as floods and droughts, 
we helped to reduce the 
vulnerability of households, 
whose livelihoods depend 
on agriculture through the 
distribution of tools, goats and 
sheep and small enterprise 
cash grants. We also delivered 
entrepreneurship training and 
helped build access to markets 
and financial services. To further 
reduce the vulnerability of rural, 
agricultural communities, we 
introduced an agro-forestry 
nursery and 2,000 agro-forestry 
plantations using drought-
resistant seed varieties,  
which will help lessen erosion 
during flooding. 

In Sierra Leone, Concern 
completed an internal Cholera 
Preparedness Plan for six urban 
areas perceived to be at risk. 
As part of the preparedness 
response, we stockpiled 
water purification tablets, oral 
rehydration salts and soap. 

We also produced posters and 
leaflets on cholera prevention 
and management, and cholera 
preparedness training was 
conducted for 260 volunteers 
across six neighbourhoods in 
the city. When cases of cholera 
were confirmed in one of these 
sections, Concern staff and 
volunteers distributed 8,850 
water purification tablets to  
66 households. 

Other emergency 
operations

During 2013, Concern met 
the most immediate needs 
of hundreds of thousands 
of people caught up in other 
crises. Here are just a few 
examples:

In Mozambique, heavy rains 
led to major flash flooding 
affecting hundreds of 
thousands of people. Concern 
worked to help over 69,300 
people, distributing shelter kits, 
hygiene items, latrines, seeds, 
food and solar lights. 

In Burundi, we worked with 
partners to respond to the 
immediate needs of refugees 
and displaced people fleeing 
conflict in the Democratic 

Republic of Congo providing 
food, medical care and other 
essential items such as soap, 
blankets and jerry cans. 

We responded to severe 
flooding, and people affected 
by conflict within the Republic 
of Sudan, reaching up to 
118,900 individuals. In Chad, 
Concern helped Chadian 
returnees fleeing conflict 
in the Republic of Sudan. 
Coordinating our response with 
other organisations, the UN and 
local authorities, we focused 
on providing food, clean 
water, sanitation and hygiene 
promotion.
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We are committed to 
improving the effectiveness 
of our programmes and our 
accountability to beneficiaries 
and donors. We carry out 
ongoing and final evaluations of 
all our activities to ensure that 
they are fit for purpose. 
Here are some of the insights 
we gained during 2013, which 
will inform our future work.

Working with governments

In Burundi, we worked with 
the Ministry of Health (MOH), 
at a national level to finalise 
and roll out its community 
case management strategy 
for malaria, diarrhoea, and 
acute respiratory infections. 
While the development and 
finalisation of the MOH policies 
and protocols for the project’s 
malaria pilot took much longer 
than expected, causing some 
delays in implementation, the 
decision to work closely with the 
MOH (rather than implement 
the pilot independently) paid off 
in the long run through securing 
greater MOH buy-in. As a result 
of this “front end” investment, 
the MOH remained highly 
involved in the malaria pilot 
throughout the life of the project.
 

In Ethiopia, high staff turnover in 
the government health sector is 
a major issue for our infant and 
young child feeding activity. We 
have tried to reduce the negative 
impact of this by building 
government and district capacity 
through on-the-job training.

Ensuring sustainability

As part of Concern Zimbabwe’s 
exit strategy, we showcased 
some of the innovations we 
had implemented over the past 
ten years at several national 
and district legacy events. 
These were attended by 
stakeholders from government 
and civil society, and provided 
an opportunity for us share our 
programme learning across  
the sector. 

Sharing knowledge

We strive to disseminate 
research and learning 
throughout the organisation. 
During 2013 we produced 
six key learning papers on 
Conservation Agriculture; 
Empowering Women through 
Conservation Agriculture; the 
Graduation Model; Concern’s 
Innovations in the 21st Century;  

Integrating Community 
Management of Acute 
Malnutrition within Health 
Systems: Concern’s Experience; 
and Confronting Crisis: 
Transforming lives through 
improved resilience, Concern’s 
learning from the Sahel and 
the Horn of Africa. Additionally, 
we produced many technical 
papers both within Concern and 
in collaboration with working 
groups externally.

Lessons Learned
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Concern works internationally 
at the highest levels to 
persuade those in power to 
commit to overseas investment, 
and adopt and implement 
policies which tackle the root 
causes of poverty, hunger and 
under-nutrition. 

The fight against hunger

This was a significant year for 
Concern. Ireland’s Presidency of 
the European Union (EU) and 
the UK’s chairing of the G8, 
provided a unique opportunity 
for advocacy. Our priorities of 
nutrition and resilience were 
particularly in focus, allowing us 
to make best use of a shared 
political commitment in the fight 
against hunger. 

At EU level, 2013 saw 
Ireland negotiating positions 
on nutrition, resilience and 
development goals from 2015 
onwards. Concern hosted an 
Alliance2015 conference, 
Scaling-up EU Impact on 
Community Resilience and 
Nutrition, bringing together 
policy makers and practitioners 
to discuss the role of the EU 
and its approach to nutrition. 
The year ended with Concern 
hosting a follow-up conference 

in Chad, enabling further 
dialogue at national and 
regional level. Concern also 
continued to play an active role 
in Scaling up Nutrition (SUN), 
a global movement to tackle 
hunger and malnutrition. 

The UK’s chairing of the G8 
was recognised as a major 
opportunity to influence 
decision makers. The NGO 
community and others came 
together under the ‘IF’ 
campaign to advocate for solid 
commitments on nutrition, 
with Concern mobilising 
public and political support 
for the campaign. Our CEO, 
Dominic MacSorley, attended 
the UK-hosted Nutrition for 
Growth international summit, 
and confirmed Concern’s own 
commitment to scaling-up 
nutrition at programme and 
policy level in all our countries. 

Concern co-authored the 
‘2013 Global Hunger Index’ 
with the International Food 
Policy Research Institute and 
its Alliance2015 partner, 
Welthungerhilfe. The report ‘The 
Challenge of Hunger: building 
resilience to achieve food and 
nutrition security’, drew on our 
learning from Niger, Kenya and 

Ethiopia. And Concern’s paper, 
‘The Time is Now’, laid out our 
approaches towards tackling 
the complex, underlying causes 
of under-nutrition.

Advocacy 
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Concern believes it is vital to 
promote continued investment 
in overseas development and 
in 2013, we continued to 
campaign for a commitment to 
reaching the 0.7% aid budget 
target set by the UN. Though 
the Irish Government failed to 
set a deadline for the target in 
its new policy for international 
development, we are hopeful 
that an upturn in the economy 
will see renewed progress.

The start of the 2013-14 
school year marked the 30th 
anniversary of the Concern 
Debates, a programme that has 
engaged over 40,000 students 
and hundreds of teachers and 
adjudicators over the years. 

In 2013, 140 schools registered 
for the Debates programme. 
Last year’s national champions, 
Newbridge College, Kildare, 
visited Concern’s programme 
in Ethiopia and the runners-up, 
Ardscoil Muire, Corbally, visited 
the European Parliament and 
International Criminal Court. In 
September, our primary debates 
programme, in partnership 
with Primary Debating Ireland, 
involved 248 primary schools in 
debating local and global issues. 

Working with other members 
of Alliance2015, we continued 
our work on the Food Right 
Now campaign, working with 
young people across Europe 
to raise awareness about, and 
take action against, hunger. Our 
annual Concern grants scheme 
received over 50 applications, 
and 27 groups were awarded 
a total of €159,000 to raise 
awareness about global 
development issues.

Concern continued its  
work as part of a consortium 
managing the World Wise 
Global Schools programme, 
promoting development 
education in schools across 
Ireland. In 2013 the programme 
engaged 130 schools as  
well as 15 development 
education providers. 

We received hundreds of 
entries from 39 countries to our 
Concern Writing Competition, 
with most entrants writing on 
the topic Living in Haiti three 
years after the earthquake. 

Development Education
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In 2013 Concern Worldwide helped  
over 24 million people. Our work is 
paying off, but there is still a lot to do.

The following pages show some of  
the people that have benefited from 
Concern’s overseas programmes in  
the last 12 months.

Our Concern  
Transforms Lives
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Over 1.8 million people benefited 
directly from our food, income and 
markets programmes, and over three 
million were indirect beneficiaries. 
Of the total over 50 per cent were 
women and girls. 
See more on page 13

Food, Income and Markets

A young girl tends her herd in 
her village of Dessie Zuria in 
the Amhara region of Ethiopia.  
The once degraded and barren 
hillside was transformed 
into a rich grazing area by 
a watershed management 
programme implemented by 
Concern Worldwide together 
with a local partner.  
Photo: Jiro Ose, Ethiopia.
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Food, Income and Markets

Nasir Abiid, a participant in one 
of Concern’s agricultural support 
programmes in the Gabiley region 
of Somaliland. The environment is 
particularly harsh and vulnerable 
to drought, pestilence and soil 
erosion but with Concern’s 
support, Nasir is able to grow 
enough maize, tomatoes and 
watermelons on his 1.5 hectares  
of land to feed his family in the 
long-term. Photo: David Pratt
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Food, Income and Markets

Valerie Nyabenda, 54, is a widow 
and a mother of three children. 
She is a participant on Concern’s 
‘graduation’ programme in 
southern Rwanda that seeks 
to build sustainable livelihoods, 
helping people on an individual 
basis and using their own skills 
and passions to ‘graduate’  
out of poverty.  
Photo: Cheney Orr
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Health
Felina Everrst (25) pictured with her 
one-year-old daughter, Evangeline has 
benefited from a research programme 
that Concern has been running in 
Ngara, Tanzania. By planting lantana 
camara, a natural mosquito repellant, 
around 231 homes in the area, there 
has been a 50 per cent reduction in 
the number of mosquitoes in those 
homes. Felina's family received the 
lantana plant in 2009 and since then 
they have not suffered from malaria. 
Photo: Crystal Wells

Our health programme focuses on 
improving maternal, neonatal and 
child health, tackling malnutrition, and 
improving access to clean, safe water 
and adequate sanitation. We reached 
just over two million people directly in 
2013 and almost seven million indirectly. 
Over 61 per cent were women and girls.
See more on page 17
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Health

Nomadic pastoralist women waiting 
to have their children checked at a 
Concern nutrition outreach clinic in 
Sahgel, Chalbi District in northern 
Kenya. The outreach nutrition 
programme is run in partnership with 
the Ministry of Public Health and 
Sanitation and reaches communities 
who would otherwise have no access 
to health care. Clinics are held 
wherever possible, here under the 
shade of an acacia tree. 
Photo: Gideon Mendel



Education

In the past decade, primary 
school enrollment has surged 
in Afghanistan, with the most 
recent figures suggesting 
that 46 per cent of girls are 
attending primary school. 
However, attendance drops  
to less than a quarter of all  
girls after age 12, and trends 
steadily downward through 
secondary school.  
Photo: Kieran McConville

Concern’s education 
programme enables children, 
particularly girls and those from 
the most marginalised groups, 
to access basic education. 
See more on page 21
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Our HIV and AIDS programmes 
reached over 57,000 people directly 
and more than 38,000 indirectly 
in 2013. Over 50 per cent were 
women and girls. Concern’s HIV and 
AIDS programme has three main 
approaches to tackling the impact  
of HIV and AIDS.
See more on page 24

HIV and AIDS

Jeremy Majalia, aged 9, is from 
Kigoma, Tanzania.  He lost his 
mother to AIDS and now lives 
with his grandmother, who is HIV 
positive.  With Concern's help she 
grows fruit, such as the bananas 
Jeremy is holding here,  vegetables 
and also keeps livestock. Having 
access to a varied and nutritious 
diet enables her antiretroviral 
medicine to work better.  
Photo: Jennifer O'Gorman
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In 2013, we responded to 38 
emergencies in 22 countries,  
directly helping over two million 
people and indirectly assisting more 
than seven million. Over 55 per cent 
were women and girls. We also 
entered new countries in response to 
emergencies: Syria and Philippines.
See more on page 27

Emergencies

Baby Unmiss, named after the 
United Nations Mission to South 
Sudan. She was born on December 
21 in one of the UN compounds 
in Juba, which has become home 
to over 16,000 people seeking 
refuge from the fighting. Her 
mother Lucia says that she and 
her extended family are afraid to 
leave the compound, which is being 
protected by UNMISS troops.  
Photo: Kieran McConville



Emergencies

A child at an informal tented 
settlement in Lebanon, which 
is home to more than 30 Syrian 
families, did not have latrines 
or access to free, safe drinking 
water before Concern built the 
latrines and provided the water 
tanks, which are filled by a  
water truck every morning.  
Photo: Crystal Wells
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Emergencies

Captain Mario Biñas sits in 
the wreckage of ‘Shipfas’ the 
fishing boat that he and his crew 
relied upon for their livelihoods. 
It was extensively damaged 
during Typhoon Haiyan. Concern 
Worldwide is supporting the 
building and reconstruction of boats 
in Concepcion and Carles, two of 
the worst hit areas, so that people 
can once again start earning a 
living. Photo: Kieran McConville 
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Emergencies

Many thousands of people were 
left destitute in the wake of 
Tyhoon Haiyan as it ripped through 
Philippines. Concern distributed 
emergency relief goods such as 
shelter kits, blankets and solar 
lamps to families in devastated 
Igbon Banaguy, Concepcion.
Photo: Steve de Neef



Emergencies

Henriette Kayitesi with her one-
year-old daughter, Rachel Zawadi, 
at a refugee camp where they are 
seeking shelter from the conflict 
in Democratic Republic of Congo 
(DRC). War-ravaged DRC is one 
of the world’s poorest and most 
dangerous countries and people 
already living in extreme poverty 
have been forced to flee their 
villages to escape the fighting. In 
North Kivu, Concern has been 
working to distribute supplies to 
people in densely-populated camps 
and villages around the area. 
Photo: Noel Gavin/Allpix 
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Concern continues to adopt 
innovative technological 
approaches to ensure our work 
is as effective as possible. 

The use of our data-gathering 
toolset has now expanded from 
supporting our conservation 
farming programme to 
supporting health, nutrition and 
education programmes in 19 
countries with more to follow.  
A total of 79,145 surveys were 
conducted in 2013, (mainly to 
monitor progress and results 
being achieved). Our data-
gathering work was shortlisted 
as a finalist in the Mobile 
Technology Project of the 
Year category at the 2013 ICT 
Excellence Awards.   

Our membership and active 
participation within NetHope,  
an alliance of similar 
organisations focusing on 
technology, continues to 
provide long-term value for 
Concern, and helps promote 
the technological innovations 
we need for our work to have a 
positive impact internationally. 

Information Technology

“The use of our data-
gathering toolset 
has now expanded 
from supporting 
our conservation 
farming programme 
to supporting health, 
nutrition and education 
programmes in  
19 countries with  
more to follow.”
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The effectiveness of our work 
depends on our supporters. 
Again, in 2013, we were 
humbled by the generosity of 
the public, who donated over 
€40 million to help us continue 
to respond to emergencies, and 
tackle hunger, under-nutrition 
and poverty in some of the 
world’s poorest countries. 

To ensure that our fundraising 
activities comply with best 
practice, we have signed up 
to the Statement of Guiding 
Principles for Fundraising. 
These promote accountability 
and transparency – so existing 
and potential supporters know 

they can trust us to use their 
donations effectively.

In 2013 we launched two 
emergency appeals, for Syria 
and Philippines. Our Syria 
appeal raised almost €1 million, 
enabling us to help over 
165,800 people in both  
Syria and Lebanon, providing 
shelter, clean water and 
sanitation facilities. We raised 
€1.7 million for Philippines, 
which helped us reach 48,831 
people with essential items 
such as blankets, soap, 
mosquito nets and shelter  
kits to rebuild homes destroyed 
by Typhoon Haiyan. 

Nearer home, fundraising 
events proved popular again 
this year. Pop duo Jedward’s 
support of the Concern Fast 
saw our busiest ever social 
media day, and 40 politicians 
and journalists headed to the 
Aviva stadium for a football 
match in aid of Concern 
Worldwide and Temple Street 
Hospital. Over 240 people took 
part in Climb4Concern and 
20 people climbed Ben Nevis 
to support our work. We also 
ran a trip to Kilimanjaro, a Tri-
Adventure in Kenya and offered 
runners the trip of a lifetime 
with a chance to take part in 
the Great Ethiopian Run. 

Fundraising in 2013

The effectiveness of our work depends 
on our supporters. Again, in 2013,  
we were humbled by the generosity 
of the public, who donated over €40 
million to help us continue to respond 
to emergencies, and tackle hunger,  
under-nutrition and poverty in some  
of the world’s poorest countries. 
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International rugby player Rob 
Kearney encouraged people 
to support our Christmas Gift 
campaign, with gifts such as 
pigs, chickens and apple trees 
helping poor families improve 
their diet and incomes. We had 
over 200 separate church gate 
collections throughout the year, 
and Christmas collections in 
nearly every county in Ireland.

The impact of one generous 
donation of €350,000 became 
evident in late 2013 when 
the newly-built 21st November 
School opened in Mogadishu, 
Somalia. This 20 classroom 
school will have an enrolment 
of 1,600 children, mostly girls, 
and was only possible thanks  
to this gift. 

Volunteers

Thousands of people volunteer 
their time to Concern in Ireland 
and the United Kingdom in a 
variety of ways. Most make a 
regular commitment, ranging 
from adjudicating the Concern 
Debates, helping in the office or 
doing church gate collections. 
Some use their professional 
expertise, while others give 
their time and energy in work 
that is not related to their 

everyday jobs. Some volunteers 
may be retired or not in paid 
employment. Concern greatly 
appreciates the support it 
receives from all its volunteers. 
In addition local volunteers are 
an integral part of our overseas 
programme activities. Their 
work allows us to reach greater 
numbers and be more effective. 

Corporate partnership

In May 2013, we exhibited 
a garden at Bloom, Ireland’s 
largest garden festival to raise 
awareness of our 1,000 days 
nutrition work. Sponsored by 
the Kerry Group and designed 
by Paul Martin, the 1000 DAYS 
Garden, which won gold at the 
show, saw us directly engage 
with over 10,000 people, 
including President and Mrs 
Higgins, over the five days of 
the event. 

We were delighted to launch 
the next phase of our 
partnership with Accenture 
in September 2013. The 
Accenture Foundation awarded 
Concern an additional grant 
of US$3.2 million to continue 
its funding of conservation 
agriculture programmes in 
Zambia and Malawi. The three-

year grant will help increase  
the income of more than 
12,100 farmers through 
agriculture and farm 
management skills training. 
Since 2010, approximately 
6,400 farmers have completed 
the training programme.

Ulster Bank kindly publicised 
Concern through its ATMs, 
branches and online banking 
to facilitate donations to 
Philippines typhoon emergency 
appeal. The response from  
both customers and staff  
was extremely generous,  
with Concern Worldwide 
receiving over €65,000 for  
our typhoon response.

Web and social media 

It was a busy year for the web 
team, with the launch of a new 
version of the website (concern.
net), building the foundations  
of a mobile responsive site,  
a change of host infrastructure 
and a new gifts website. 

We received nearly 600,000 
visits to concern.net, with 
visitors showing deeper levels 
of engagement by staying 
longer, reading more and 
donating. On social media, 
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users are liking, sharing and 
commenting in increasing 
numbers across all our 
platforms. We encouraged 
debate, posing questions such 
as “The salaries of charity 
CEOs is a big issue at the 
moment. Do you think charities 
are transparent enough? And 
who should be accountable?” 
Our Facebook fans grew by 
48 per cent and our Twitter 
followers by 25 per cent. 
Twitter engagement peaked, 
with events aimed at different 
audiences, from Jedward’s 
support of the Fast campaign 
to the launch of the Global 
Hunger Index. 

Media 

In 2013, we achieved sustained 
and generally positive media 
coverage of all our emergency, 
advocacy, development and 
fundraising work.

With emergencies to the fore in 
2013, the International Day for 
Disaster Reduction was marked 
by working with Concern’s 
Emergency Unit, during Cork 
Rebel Week, hosting talks in 
University College Cork and 
Cork City Library and exploiting 
media opportunities to promote 
the events. 

The World Alliance of Cities 
against Poverty conference 
in Dublin, International 
Women’s Day, and a concert 
for Philippines, ‘Tunes for the 
Typhoon', were just some of  
the other events, which played 
an invaluable role in raising  
our profile. 

And the winners are

We were proud when,  
this year, two of our fundraisers 
were honoured at the Irish 
Fundraising Awards. Colm 
Dolan received the award for 
‘Best in-house Direct Marketing 
Fundraising Campaign’ while 
Mary Filan won the award for 
‘Best Emerging Fundraiser’. 

For the fourth consecutive 
year, the Concern Worldwide 
Annual Report and Accounts 
won the Charities and Not for 
Profit category at the Published 
Accounts Awards organised 
by Chartered Accountants of 
Ireland, Leinster Society. This 
award is given for ‘excellence 
in financial reporting’ within the 
not-for profit sector. 

Tom Arnold, our outgoing CEO, 
received a ‘People of the Year 
Award’ for his vision, drive and 
achievements during his 11 
years as Chief Executive  
of Concern. 
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Pop duo Jedward launched  
the Concern Fast 2103.  
Photo: Jason Clarke Photography

2013 Debate champions, from 
Newbridge College, Co. Kildare, 
Ciara Maher, Chloe O’Reilly,  
Grainne Carr and Jeffrey 
Hovenden. Photo Mick Quinn 

Visitors at the Kerry Group / 
Concern Worldwide 1000 DAYS 
Garden at Bloom, included 
President Michael D. Higgins  
and his wife Sabina, pictured  
with designer Paul Martin.   
Photo: Jason Clarke Photography

International Rugby player Rob 
Kearney, launched the Concern 
Christmas Gift Campaign.  
Photo: Jason Clarke Photography
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Abbie Flynn and Olivia Pennell, 
showed how easy it is to stretch a 
donation when they helped launch 
the tax campaign.  Photo: Jason 
Clarke Photography.

Mark Ryan, country managing 
director, Accenture in Ireland with 
Dominic MacSorley, CEO Concern  
at the announcement that the 
Accenture Foundations awarded 
Concern an additional grant of 
US$3.2 million to continue its 
funding of conservation farming 
programmes in Zambia and Malawi.   
Photo: Shane O’Neill, Fennels 

Tom Arnold, pictured with Irish 
International Rugby Player, Rob 
Kearney after he received his  
2013 People of the Year Award.   
Photo: Robbie Reynolds

Mary Filan and Colm Dolan,  
at the Irish Fundraising Awards.  
Photo: Colm O'Mearáin
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The financial outcome for 2013 
is set out in the ‘Consolidated 
Statement of Financial 
Activities’ on page 70.

During 2013 Concern’s income 
and expenditure fell due to the 
winding down of a number of 
emergency response activities 
in a number of our countries  
of operation. 

In addition to this planned 
reduction, Concern continued 
to be impacted by the difficult 
global and domestic economic 
environment. While support 
for Concern’s work remained 
strong, the general weakness 
of the Irish and UK economies 
affected the level of fundraising 
income received in 2013. 

The final position for the year 
shows net outgoing resources 
of €1.7 million. This deficit was 
planned and is predominately 
due to the residue of funds 
which were received in 2010 
and 2011 for the emergencies 
in Haiti, Pakistan and in the Horn 
of Africa, being utilised in 2013.

A more detailed commentary on 
the financial results reflected in 
the 2013 Annual Report, is set 
out below:

Income

The organisation’s total income 
in 2013 amounted to €127 
million. This represents a 
decrease of 11 per cent from 
income levels in 2012 and is 
the net impact of a number of 
substantial movements across 
our main income sources. 

Grants from governments 
and institutional donors

Concern received a total of 
€83 million in grants from 
governments and institutional 
donors in 2013 – see note 
2(a) to the financial statements 
for analysis by donor. This 
represents an 11.4 per cent 
decrease from our 2012 levels. 
This decrease is primarily due 
to the completion of emergency 
projects in a number of our 
country programmes. 

The European Union was 
the single largest donor in 
2013 - providing €25 million or 
30 per cent of total co-funding 
income. The Irish Government 
was the next largest donor 
providing €23 million.

Donated commodities

Commodities donated to the 
organisation and distributed as 
part of its relief programmes 
were valued at €2.8 million. 
In 2013, a 61 per cent 
decrease from 2012– see 
note 2(b) to the financial 
statements for details. The 
main reason for the decrease 
was due to the completion of 
food distribution programmes 
in Niger and Cambodia. 

Public donations

Income from public donations 
in Ireland and UK reached 
€40.5 million – see note 2(c) 
to the financial statements for 
additional analysis of voluntary 
income. This represents a 
decrease of 2.8 per cent when 
compared to 2012. The decline 
was lower than anticipated 
due to the generous donations 
received for Philippines 
emergency appeal. 

During 2013 our committed 
giving income held up 
reasonably well. Committed 
giving is an important source 
of income for the organisation 
as it represents a significant 
portion of our total income, 

Review of Financial 
Outcome 2013
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it is also provides a reliable 
base from which to plan on-
going activities. Thanks are 
due to all of the donors who 
have continued to support the 
organisation in the midst of 
difficult economic times.

Expenditure

Our total expenditure for the 
year was €129 million, made 
up as follows:

           2013

€’m %

Charitable  
activities

116.6 90.4%

Cost of  
generating funds 11.7 9.1%

Governance 0.7 0.5%

129.0 100%

Total expenditure at €129 
million, represents a 12.4 
per cent decrease from the 
2012 level of €147.3 million. 
As previously outlined this 
decrease is primarily due to 
the completion of emergency 
projects in a number of 
countries including Haiti, 
Bangladesh, Somalia and Niger. 

Two exceptional costs are 
included in the expenditure 
figures for 2013 and 2012. 

These costs have been 
appropriately allocated across 
each of the expenditure 
categories above:

- Impairment charge 2013 
(€0.8 million) - During 2013 
the Council reviewed the 
value of its land and freehold 
premises and decided that 
they should write down the 
value of these assets to their 
recoverable value. This has 
resulted in an impairment 
charge of €0.8m in the 
current year.

- Past service credit 2012 
(€1.3 million) – In 2012 the 
Pensions Board approved 
a Section 50 application in 
relation to Concern’s defined 
benefit pension scheme. 
This application provided 
for an amendment to post 
retirement pension increases 
(namely the reduction of 
the current fixed rate of 
escalation from three per 
cent pa to the lesser of CPI 
or three per cent pa), and the 
cessation of a discretionary 
practice of providing a 
revaluation in respect of the 
defined benefit pensions 
relating to pensionable 
service completed prior 
to January 1, 1991. This 

resulted in a past service 
credit of €1.3 million in 
2012 which was spread 
across the expenditure 
headings outlined above. 
This credit makes the 
comparative figures for 2013 
seem lower than normal.

Charitable activities 

Expenditure on charitable 
activities in 2013 totalled 
€116.6 million, a 14 per cent 
decrease from 2012 levels. 
As can be seen in note 3, 
most of the decrease resulted 
from reduced expenditure on 
emergency response activities 
in 2013. The increase in 
activities across the majority 
of our other sectors reflects 
the change in the focus of 
programming in the country’s 
whose emergency response 
activities have wound down 
over the last two years. During 
2012 and 2013 the decision 
was made to exit Cambodia, 
India and Zimbabwe by the end 
of 2013. These decisions have 
also contributed to the fall in 
charitable expenditure in 2013.
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Cost of generating funds

The cost of generating funds 
totalled €11.7 million in 
2013. Outside of the two 
main expenditure items 
explained above expenditure 
is more or less the same as 
in 2012. Continued emphasis 
was placed on ensuring that 
Concern’s returns on fundraising 
investment were maximised. 

Governance costs 

Governance costs for 2013 
amounted to €0.7 million, 
or 0.5 per cent of total 
expenditure. The small decrease 
in expenditure reflects the 
reduction in the CEO’s salary in 
the current year. 

The total costs set out above in 
relation to charitable activities; 
fundraising and governance 
include attributable support 
costs. Our total support costs 
for the year amounted to €10.7 
million (see note 6 to the 
financial statements), compared 
to €8.6 million in 2012, a 24 
per cent increase. This increase 
is due to the impairment charge 
in the current year and the past 
service credit applied in 2012, 
as outlined above. Outside of 
these adjustments support costs 

have fallen in 2013, reflecting a 
number of expenditure cuts that 
were made during the year in 
response to the continued fall in 
voluntary income.

Key financial performance 
indicators

There are a number of key 
financial performance indicators 
which, taken together, are used 
by management and Council as 
a measure of performance and 
financial strength. These are set 
out below:

Indicator 2013 2012

Return on 
fundraising 
spend

3.5 3.9

Government 
and institutional 
income as a 
percentage 
of charitable 
expenditure

71% 69%

Support costs  
as a percentage 
of total costs

8.3% 5.8%

Unrestricted 
reserves as a 
percentage of 
total income

28% 22.7%

- Return on fundraising spend 
essentially measures how 
much we get back for each 

euro spent on fundraising. 
This figure decreased by 
10 per cent in 2013, due to 
an increased investment in 
fundraising activities that  
are expected to yield  
returns in future years and 
due to the impact of the 
exceptional costs outlined  
in the previous section.

- Government and institutional 
income as a percentage 
of charitable expenditure 
indicates the proportion of 
our core work which we 
can get funded without 
reliance on public appeals. 
The 71 per cent recorded 
in 2013 is slightly higher 
than the levels achieved in 
2012. The organisation’s 
ability to maintain this level 
of co-funding demonstrates 
its continued success in 
accessing government and 
institutional funding.

- Support costs as a 
percentage of total costs 
illustrates how much of total 
expenditure is absorbed 
by essential but non-core 
activities and functions. 
The 8.3 per cent achieved 
in 2013, represents a 
significant increase of 
2.5 per cent on the 2012 
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position. As previously noted 
this increase is mainly due 
to the impairment charge 
in the current year and the 
past service credit applied 
in 2012. 

- Unrestricted reserves as a 
percentage of total income 
indicate the resources 
on which the group can 
draw in order to continue 
its work in the event of a 
downturn in income. The 
level of unrestricted reserves 
held at the end of 2013 is 
considered adequate and is in 
line with our reserves policy. 

Overall we are satisfied with 
the financial performance for 
the year, especially given the 
continued difficult operating 
conditions. 

Reserves and  
Financial Position

It is Concern’s policy to retain 
only sufficient reserves to 
safeguard the continuity of its 
overseas operations, thereby 
committing the maximum 
possible resources to its  
current programmes. 

The total reserves of €38.4 
million at December 31, 2013 
are detailed in note 19 to the 
financial statements and fall 
into two categories:

- Restricted funds (€2.9 
million): these funds are 
tied to particular purposes, 
which arise because of 
restrictions on their use 
imposed by the donor at time 
of receipt or because the 
funds were collected in a 
public appeal to raise money 
for a particular purpose. It 
is the organisation’s policy 
to fully apply such funds for 
the purposes for which they 
were donated as quickly 
as possible. The majority 
of these funds relate to 
the emergency income for 
Philippines which Concern 
intend to utilise in 2014.

- Unrestricted funds: these  
are of two types:

» Designated funds 
(€35.5 million); these are 
unrestricted funds which 
have been allocated by 
the Council for specific 
purposes and which are 
(as a result) not available 
for general usage. At the 
end of 2013 funds had 

been designated for  
three specific purposes  
as follows:

• To cover the 2014 
budget deficit.

• To recognise that a 
portion of reserves is 
invested in the charity’s 
fixed assets (tangible 
and financial) and is not 
therefore available for 
other purposes.

• To ensure the continuity 
of operations in the 
event of a temporary 
downturn in income.

» General unrestricted 
funds (€0.1 million): these 
represent funds which are 
available for the general 
purposes of the charity.

Council reviews the level of 
reserves held periodically. 
The last review was done in 
conjunction with the approval  
of the 2014 budget. At that 
time it was agreed that the 
restricted reserves should be 
utilised as soon as reasonably 
possible and, that the 2014 
expenditure plans were 
not expected to move the 
organisation’s unrestricted 
reserves from the 2013 levels 
which are felt to be appropriate.
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Based on the results for the 
year, the year-end financial 
position and the approved 
2014 budget, the Council 
believes that the charity has 
adequate resources to continue 
in operational existence for 
the foreseeable future. For this 
reason the Council continues 
to adopt the ‘going concern’ 
basis in preparing the financial 
statements.

Financial Results of 
Subsidiary Companies

In addition to the parent 
company, during 2013 there 
were two active subsidiary 
companies within the group:

- Concern Worldwide (UK) 
engages in fundraising, 
development education and 
advocacy work in the United 
Kingdom. The company 
had another successful 
year in 2013, producing 
substantial net income for 
group activities. The year-
end position of the company 
was satisfactory and it is 
expected to continue trading 
for the foreseeable future.

- Concern Charity Trading 
Limited continued to 
provide support to group 
fundraising activities. Any 
costs associated with this 
activity have been borne by 
the parent company.

 
As explained in note 25 to 
the financial statements, apart 
from the parent company and 
the above subsidiaries, there is 
one other company within the 
group. This company was not 
operational in 2013 and did not 
have material assets or liabilities 
at the balance sheet date.

Investment Policy

The bulk of Concern’s liquid 
reserves are placed in short-
term interest-bearing deposits, 
with maturity dates designed 
to satisfy Concern’s cash flow 
requirements. These deposits 
are placed with reputable 
financial institutions as 
authorised by Council, within 
set investment thresholds.

During the year the 
organisation disposed of its 
long-term investment with Irish 
Life Investment Managers.

Financial Instruments, 
Financial Risk 
Management Policies, 
Objectives and Strategies 

The group finances its 
operations mainly from 
incoming resources and 
reserves. The financial 
instruments that arise from 
this activity comprise of 
investments, cash and liquid 
resources. Other financial 
instruments such as debtors 
and creditors arise directly from 
normal operations. The group 
does not trade in derivatives or 
other financial instruments in 
the ordinary course of business.

The group’s international 
operations expose it to  
different financial risks that 
include credit risk, interest rate 
risk, foreign exchange rate risk, 
and liquidity risk. Financial risk 
management policies are in 
place which seek to limit the 
impact of these risks on the 
performance of the group.  
It is the aim of the group to 
manage these risks in a non-
speculative manner. 



Concern Worldwide Annual Report and Accounts 2013 60

The group’s policies for 
managing each of its main 
financial risks are broadly  
as follows:

Credit risk:
Credit risk is the risk that the 
financial institutions in which 
liquid investments and cash at 
bank are held may default on 
the cash deposited and the 
risk that co-funder debtors of 
the group may default on their 
obligations.

The risk of default by credit 
institutions is managed by 
the group by ensuring that 
cash at bank and short-
term investments are held 
with institutions that have a 
satisfactory credit rating as 
approved by Council.

The amounts due from co-
funders represent amounts 
owed to the group by those 
government and institutional 
funders for work that has been 
performed but for which the 
related funding has not been 
received by year-end. This 
is managed by the group by 
ensuring that all agreements 
with these co-funders are 
supported by signed contracts 
and that all reporting and project 

related requirements are fulfilled 
to ensure receipt of funding. 
There is not a significant 
concentration of risk and the 
history of defaults is negligible. 

The group has detailed 
procedures for monitoring and 
managing the credit risk in 
relation to other receivables. 

 
Interest rate risk: 
Interest rate risk exists when 
assets and liabilities attract 
interest rates set according to 
different bases or which are 
set at different times. The main 
companies in the group have 
interest bearing assets and 
liabilities. In general, rates on the 
majority of cash and short term 
bank deposits are fixed only for 
relatively short periods in order 
to match funding requirements 
while being able to benefit from 
opportunities due to movements 
in longer term rates. The main 
company in the group, namely 
Concern Worldwide, also has 
an interest bearing liability in 
the form of a bank loan. The 
interest rate on part of the loan 
was fixed in 2012 for five years. 
The remainder of the bank loan 
attracts a variable interest rate 
charge; however the company 
has the ability to fix the whole or 

part of this interest rate in order 
to mitigate the risk of adverse 
interest rate fluctuations. 

Foreign exchange risk:
Much of the group’s costs, 
particularly overseas costs,  
are denominated in US 
dollar while most income is 
received in euro and sterling. A 
strengthening of the US dollar 
against the euro and sterling 
could have a significant adverse 
effect on the group’s ability to 
deliver its planned programme 
of work. These currency risks 
are monitored on an ongoing 
basis and managed as deemed 
appropriate by utilising a 
combination of spot and forward 
foreign currency contracts.

Liquidity risk:
Liquidity risk is the risk that the 
group will be unable to meet 
financial commitments arising 
from the cash flows generated 
by its activities. The risk can arise 
from mismatches in the timing  
of cash flows relating to assets 
and liabilities. The group’s 
liquidity is managed by ensuring 
that sufficient cash and deposits 
are held on short notice,  
and by retaining sufficient 
reserves to cover short term 
fluctuations in income.
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The Memorandum and Articles 
of Association signed on 
May 29, 1972 (most recently 
amended in 2010) represent 
the founding governance 
document of Concern.  
The Articles provide for a 
membership-based organisation 
limited by guarantee with a 
governing Council elected from 
the Concern membership base.  

The Council is committed 
to maintaining the highest 
standards of corporate 
governance and has 
determined that the 
organisation is fully compliant 
with the principles outlined in 
the “Irish Development NGOs 
Code of Corporate Governance” 
(as produced by the Corporate 
Governance Association 
of Ireland; partnered with 
Dóchas). Council expects that 
Concern will also be able to 
demonstrate full compliance 
with, ”The Governance Code for 
the Community, Voluntary and 
Charitable Sector in Ireland” 
by April 2014. This Code was 
launched by the Minister for 
the Environment, Community 
and Local Government in 
June 2012 to promote high 
standards of governance and 
transparency in the charity 

sector. The Code provides clear 
guidelines on the roles, duties 
and responsibilities of those 
who run community, voluntary 
and charitable organisations.

Council members, all of whom 
are non-executive, are drawn 
from diverse backgrounds 
and bring a broad range 
of experience and skills to 
Council deliberations. All 
new Council members attend 
an induction course shortly 
after appointment in order to 
familiarise themselves with 
their statutory responsibilities, 
their role as Council members, 
the Concern governance 
framework, Concern’s 
humanitarian work and 
Concern’s risk environment.

There are clear distinctions 
between the roles of 
Council and the Executive 
Management Team to which 
day to day management is 
delegated. Matters such as 
policy, strategic planning, 
and budgets are prepared by 
the Executive Management 
Team for consideration and 
approval by Council, who then 
monitor the implementation 
of these plans.  The members 
of Council cannot under the 

governing documents, receive 
remuneration for services 
to Concern and may only 
be reimbursed for incidental 
expenses claimed.

There are five sub-committees of 
Council; Officers, who along with 
the Chairperson, act on behalf 
of Council between Council 
meetings; Finance, which 
monitors the organisation’s 
financial results and policies; 
Audit and Risk, which monitors 
the control and risk management 
systems; Programming, 
Monitoring and Evaluation, 
which monitors the quality of 
Concern’s programme work; and 
Organisational Development, 
which oversees the process 
whereby the organisation 
maintains, builds and develops 
its capacities so that it is in 
a position to implement and 
support high quality programmes. 
The membership of these sub-
committees includes specialists 
who are not members of the 
Council, but who volunteer their 
expertise to assist the sub-
committees on an ongoing basis.

The Council met six times and 
Officers sub-committee met 
seven times during 2013; the 
Organisational Development 

Governance 
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Committee met three times; 
the Finance Committee met 
six times; the Audit and Risk 
Committee met four times; 
the Monitoring and Evaluation 
Committee met four  times and 
the UK Trustees met six times.

Organisational Risk 
Management and  
Internal Control

Concern Worldwide has a 
dedicated risk management 
function that is responsible 
for ensuring that a 
comprehensive process exists 
in order to identify and rank 
all of Concern’s significant 
organisational risks, how these 
are managed and how they are 
reported and monitored. 

As part of the risk management 
process an annual risk review 
is presented to Council to 
provide confirmation that 
the organisation is not on 
an on-going basis exposed 
to an unacceptable level of 
preventable risk. The major 
risks to which Concern is 
exposed, as identified by 
Council, have been ranked 
by likelihood and impact. 
Management undertakes 
ongoing monitoring of the level 

of risk and reports on this to the 
Council. Appropriate systems 
and procedures are in place to 
manage these risks and provide 
reasonable but not absolute 
assurance against occurrence. 
The major risks identified by the 
most recent review are listed 
below in order of significance: 

Funding and Economic 
instability: Like all organisations, 
Concern has been affected by 
the global downturn and has 
had to adjust its budgets and 
expenditure to reflect lower 
levels of income. In order to 
reduce the risk of significant 
fluctuations in income, the 
organisation aims to maintain 
geographically diverse sources 
of income, foster public 
commitment to the developing 
world and maintain good 
relations with institutional 
donors while maintaining 
appropriate reserves. Concern 
also continues to develop 
new fundraising activities and 
techniques in order to maximise 
its income. 

Staff safety and security: 
Concern operates in regions 
where the political and social 
circumstances make the 
personal security of staff a 

major potential hazard. The 
security of Concern’s staff 
is of paramount importance 
and in order to ensure that 
this risk is appropriately 
managed the organisation 
has comprehensive security 
management policies in place.

Fraud, corruption and 
inappropriate behaviour: 
Significant fraud or incidences 
of corruption could severely 
damage the organisation’s 
reputation as well as resulting 
in the loss of resources. The 
organisation has developed 
detailed financial management 
and reporting systems to 
mitigate these risks which are 
reviewed on a regular basis. 
Concern has a comprehensive 
internal audit programme. A 
rigorous Code of Conduct for 
staff is proactively implemented 
to mitigate against any 
inappropriate behaviour, which 
could potentially impact upon 
the communities with whom  
we work.

Achievement and demonstration 
of programme impact: It is 
important that the organisation 
is able to measure the impact 
of its programming activities 
in order for it to demonstrate 
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programme impact. Appropriate 
systems have been put in place 
and continue to be developed. 

Staff recruitment and retention: 
Concern achieves its results 
through its staff. If the 
organisation is to succeed 
with its objectives, Concern 
staff must build effective and 
lasting relationships with local 
communities. Being able to 
attract and retain appropriate 
staff is a key on-going 
challenge for the organisation. 
The organisation has developed 
and frequently reviews its 
human resources policies and 
procedures to address this risk. 

Compliance and reputational 
issues: Concern recognises that 
its good reputation is linked to 
its continued commitment to 
compliance. This includes its 
compliance with all regulatory 
and statutory requirements and 
also a general commitment 
to pursue compliance with 
recognised codes and 
regulations within the sector. 

Overall, Council is satisfied that 
systems are in place to monitor, 
manage and mitigate Concern’s 
exposure to the major risks. 
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Staff

The organisation acknowledges 
with gratitude the work of its 
staff at home and overseas in 
2013. The major achievements 
during the year are due to the 
dedication of all these people.

Concern is an equal 
opportunities employer. The  
aim of its equal opportunities 
policy is to ensure that all 
people receive equality of 
opportunity regardless of 
gender, race, religion, disability, 
nationality, marital/family  
status and sexual orientation.

Political Contributions

There were no political 
contributions in 2013, and 
as a result no disclosures are 
required under the Electoral 
Act, 1997.

Post Balance Sheet Events

There have been no events 
subsequent to the year-end 
that require any adjustment to 
or additional disclosure in the 
2013 financial statements.

Accounting Records

The Council members believe 
that they have complied with the 
requirements of Section 202 
of the Companies Act, 1990 
with regard to books of account 
by employing personnel with 
appropriate expertise and by 
providing adequate resources to 
the financial function. The books 
of account are maintained at 
the group’s registered office in 
52-55 Lower Camden Street, 
Dublin 2.

Auditor

The Auditor, KPMG, has 
agreed to continue in office 
under Section 160(2) of the 
Companies Act, 1963. A 
resolution proposing their re-
appointment will be put to the 
Annual General Meeting. 

Looking ahead 

Our vision for the five years 
to 2015 is contained in the 
strategic plan for 2011-15 
‘Greater impact in an increasingly 
vulnerable world’. In order to 
achieve that impact we need to 
operate on a reasonable scale, 
which in turn requires resources. 

The economic environment in 
which we raise funds remains 
challenging and our success in 
raising funds is likely to depend 
on being able to demonstrate that 
we spend resources effectively. 
We have invested in improving 
our financial, accountability and 
governance systems and on 
monitoring and evaluating the 
results of programmes. All of 
these initiatives aim to show 
that Concern is an organisation 
worthy of trust and support.  
We are committed to continuing 
on this path.

While the organisation continues 
to be proud of its achievements, 
much remains to be done. With 
the help of our supporters, we 
will continue to work with the 
most vulnerable people in the 
world to create real and lasting 
changes in their lives.

On behalf of Council

Frances O’Keeffe
Council Member

 
Teresa McColgan 
Council Member
April 16, 2014

Other Matters
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The Council members are 
responsible for preparing the 
Council Annual Report and the 
Group and Company financial 
statements in accordance with 
applicable law and regulations. 

Company law requires the 
Council members to prepare 
financial statements for each 
financial period. Under that 
law, the Council members 
have elected to prepare the 
Group and Company financial 
statements in accordance with 
Generally Accepted Accounting 
Practice in Ireland, comprising 
applicable Company Law and 
accounting standards issued 
by the Financial Reporting 
Council and promulgated by 
the Institute of Chartered 
Accountants in Ireland. 

The Group financial statements 
are required by law to give  
a true and fair view of the  
state of affairs of the Group 
and Company and of the 
surplus or deficit of the  
Group for that period. 

In preparing each of Group and 
Company’s financial statements, 
the Council members are 
required to:

- select suitable accounting 
policies and then apply 
them consistently; 

- make judgements and 
estimates that are 
reasonable and prudent; 
and 

- prepare the financial 
statements on the going 
concern basis unless it is 
inappropriate to presume 
that the Company will 
continue in business.

The Council members are 
responsible for keeping proper 
books of account which 
disclose with reasonable 
accuracy at any time the 
financial position of the 
Company and the Group and 
to enable them to ensure that 
the financial statements comply 
with the Companies Acts, 
1963 to 2013. They are also 
responsible for taking such 
steps as are reasonably open 
to them to safeguard the assets 
of the Company and to prevent 
and detect fraud and other 
irregularities.

The Council members are also 
responsible for preparing a 
Council Report that complies 

with the requirements of  
the Companies’ Acts 1963  
to 2013. 

The Council is responsible for 
the maintenance and integrity 
of the corporate and financial 
information included on the 
Groups website. Legislation 
in the Republic of Ireland 
governing the preparation 
and dissemination of financial 
statements may differ from 
legislation in other jurisdictions. 
 
On behalf of Council 
 
 

Frances O’Keeffe 
Council Member 
 
 

 
Teresa McColgan 
Council Member
April 16, 2014

Statement of Council 
Members’ Responsibilities
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We have audited the group 
and parent company financial 
statements (‘‘financial 
statements’’) of Concern 
Worldwide for the year ended 
December 31, 2013 which 
comprise the Consolidated 
Statement of Financial 
Activities, Consolidated and 
Company only Balance Sheet, 
the Consolidated Cash Flow 
Statement and the related 
notes. The financial reporting 
framework that has been 
applied in their preparation 
is Irish law and accounting 
standards issued by the 
Financial Reporting Council and 
promulgated by the Institute 
of Chartered Accountants in 
Ireland (Generally Accepted 
Accounting Practice in Ireland). 

This report is made solely to 
the company’s members, as 
a body, in accordance with 
section 193 of the Companies 
Act 1990. Our audit work has 
been undertaken so that we 
might state to the company’s 
members those matters we are 
required to state to them in an 
auditor’s report and for no other 
purpose. To the fullest extent 
permitted by law, we do not 
accept or assume responsibility 
to anyone other than the 

company and the company’s 
members as a body, for our 
audit work, for this report, or for 
the opinions we have formed. 

Respective responsibilities 
of Council Members and 
auditor 

As explained more fully 
in the Council Members’ 
Responsibilities Statement set 
out on page 65, the Council 
Members are responsible for 
the preparation of the financial 
statements giving a true and 
fair view. Our responsibility is 
to audit and express an opinion 
on the financial statements 
in accordance with Irish law 
and International Standards 
on Auditing (UK and Ireland). 
Those standards require us 
to comply with the Ethical 
Standards for Auditors  
issued by the Auditing 
Practices Board. 

Scope of the audit of the 
financial statements

An audit involves obtaining 
evidence about the amounts 
and disclosures in the financial 
statements sufficient to give 
reasonable assurance that the 
financial statements are free 

from material misstatement, 
whether caused by fraud 
or error. This includes an 
assessment of: whether 
the accounting policies are 
appropriate to the company 
circumstances and have 
been consistently applied 
and adequately disclosed; the 
reasonableness of significant 
accounting estimates made 
by the Council Members; 
and the overall presentation 
of the financial statements. 
In addition, we read all the 
financial and non-financial 
information in the annual 
report to identify material 
inconsistencies with the audited 
financial statements. If we 
become aware of any apparent 
material misstatements or 
inconsistencies we consider  
the implications for our report.

Opinion on financial 
statements

In our opinion: 
- the financial statements 

give a true and fair view, in 
accordance with Generally 
Accepted Accounting 
Practice in Ireland, of the 
state of the group’s and 
parent company’s affairs 
as at December 31, 2013 

Independent Auditor’s 
Report to the Members  
of Concern Worldwide 
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and of the group’s  
deficit for the year then 
ended; and

- the financial statements 
have been properly 
prepared in accordance 
with the Companies Acts 
1963 to 2013. 

Matters on which we  
are required to report by  
the Companies Acts 1963  
to 2013

We have obtained all the 
information and explanations 
which we consider necessary 
for the purposes of our audit.
The financial statements are 
in agreement with the books 
of account and, in our opinion, 
proper books of account have 
been kept by the company.
In our opinion the information 
given in the Council Members’ 
report is consistent with the 
financial statements.

Matters on which we  
are required to report  
by exception

We have nothing to report in 
respect of the provisions in 
the Companies Acts 1963 
to 2013 which require us to 
report to you if, in our opinion, 
the disclosures of Council 
Members’ remuneration and 
transactions specified by law 
are not made.

Caroline Flynn 
for and on behalf of

KPMG 
Chartered Accountants, 
Statutory Audit Firm

April 17, 2014

1 Stokes Place
St Stephen’s Green
Dublin 2
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Where our income  
came from

How your money  
was spent

 
 
 €000 %

Grant from Governments and  
other Co-Funders 83,065 65.2%

Income from Fundraising Activities 40,561   31.9%

Donated Commodities   2,799  2.2%

Other Income   904 0.7%

  127,329 100%

 
 
 €000 %

Relief and Development 112,769  87.4%

Fundraising 11,688     9.1%

Development Education and Advocacy 3,862 3.0%

Governance   715 0.5%

  129,034   100%

Income

Expenditure
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Financial Statements

“We are committed to improving the 
effectiveness of our programmes and 
our accountability to beneficiaries 
and donors. We carry out ongoing and 
final evaluations of all our activities to 
ensure that they are fit for purpose.”
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Activities for the year ended December 31, 2013

Notes Restricted
Funds

Unrestricted
Funds

Total 
2013

Total 
2012

€'000 €'000 €'000 €'000

Incoming resources
Incoming resources from charitable activities

 - grants from governments and other co-funders 2(a) 83,065  - 83,065 93,807
 - donated commodities 2(b) 2,799  - 2,799 7,190

Incoming resources from generated funds
 - voluntary income 2(c) 10,538 30,023 40,561 41,765
Other incoming resources 2(d) 24 880 904 662

Total incoming resources 96,426 30,903 127,329 143,424

Resources expended
Charitable activities 3 97,728 18,903 116,631 135,717
Costs of generating funds 4 591 11,097 11,688 10,842
Governance costs 5  - 715 715 763

Total resources expended 98,319 30,715 129,034 147,322

Net (outgoing)/incoming resources before 
other recognised gains and losses (1,893) 188 (1,705) (3,898)

Other recognised gains and losses
Exchange (loss)/gain on consolidation 
of foreign subsidiary 19(a)  6 (44) (38) 46
Gains on revaluation of investments 11/14(b)  - 2,365 2,365 409
Realisation of revaluation gains on investments 2(d)  - (711) (711) -
Actuarial gain/(loss) on staff retirement liabilities 18(2)  - 1,137 1,137 (1,560)

Net movement in funds for the year 19(a) (1,887) 2,935 1,048 (5,003)

The notes on pages 74 to 119 form an integral part of these financial statements.

On behalf of Council

Frances O'Keeffe Teresa McColgan
Council Member Council Member
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Consolidated Balance Sheet at December 31, 2013

Notes 2013 2012
€'000 €'000 €'000 €'000

Fixed assets
Tangible fixed assets 10 15,700 16,952

Financial fixed assets 11 2,365  327 

Current assets
Stock 12 52 113

Debtors and prepayments 13 15,074 15,933

Investments 14 18,274 22,718

Cash at bank and in hand 15 7,144 5,093

Total current assets 40,544 43,857

 
Creditors: amounts falling due within one year 16 (12,800) (13,785)

Net current assets 27,744 30,072

Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year 17 (4,644) (5,200)

Net assets excluding staff retirement liabilities 41,165 42,151

Staff retirement liabilities 18(2) (2,768) (4,802)

Net assets including staff retirement liabilities 38,397 37,349

 
Funded by:
Restricted funds 19(a) 2,860 4,747

Unrestricted funds 19(a) 35,537 32,602

Total Group funds 38,397 37,349

The notes on pages 74 to 119 form an integral part of these financial statements.

On behalf of Council

Frances O'Keeffe Teresa McColgan
Council Member Council Member
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Company Balance Sheet at December 31, 2013

Notes 2013 2012
€'000 €'000 €'000 €'000

Fixed assets
Tangible fixed assets 10 15,583 16,811

Financial fixed assets 11 2,371  327 

Current assets
Stock 12 52 113

Debtors and prepayments 13 12,207 12,971

Investments 14 18,274 22,718

Cash at bank and in hand 15 6,639 4,561  

Total current assets 37,172 40,363

Creditors: amounts falling due within one year 16 (11,513) (11,940)

Net current assets 25,659 28,423

Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year 17 (4,644) (5,200)

Net assets excluding staff retirement liabilities 38,969 40,361

Staff retirement liabilities 18(2) (2,768) (4,802)

Net assets including staff retirement liabilities 36,201 35,559

Funded by:
Restricted funds 19(b) 2,349 4,747

Unrestricted funds 19(b) 33,852 30,812

Total Company funds 36,201 35,559

The notes on pages 74 to 119 form an integral part of these financial statements.

On behalf of Council

Frances O'Keeffe Teresa McColgan
Council Member Council Member
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Notes 2013 2012
€'000 €'000

Net cash outflow from operating activities 20 (1,974) (11,881)

Return on investments and servicing of debt 21 (34) 87

Capital expenditure and financial investment 22 2,921 (242)

Net cash inflow/(outflow) before use of liquid resources and financing 913 (12,036)

Financing - net decrease in debt 22 (540) (534)

Management of liquid resources 22 1,787 8,255

Increase/(Decrease) in cash in the year 2,160 (4,315)

Reconciliation of net cash flow to movement in net cash resources 
(including cash and liquid resources)

Notes 2013 2012
€'000 €'000

Increase/(Decrease) in cash in the year 2,160 (4,315)

Foreign exchange movement (12) 22

Net decrease in debt 22 540 534

Cash flow from decrease in liquid resources 22 (1,787) (8,255)

Change in net funds resulting from cash flows 901 (12,014)

Net cash resources at beginning of year 19,314 31,328

Net cash resources at end of year 23 20,215 19,314

Consolidated Cash Flow Statement for the year ended December 31, 2013
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Notes to the Financial Statements

The following accounting 
policies have been applied 
consistently in dealing with 
items which are considered 
material to the group’s 
financial statements.

a) Basis of Preparation

Concern Worldwide is a 
company limited by guarantee 
(registered number 39647), 
and is a registered charity 
(charity number CHY5745).

The company, as a charity, is 
exempt from the reporting and 
disclosure requirements of 
the Companies (Amendment) 
Act, 1986.

The financial statements 
are prepared in accordance 
with generally accepted 
accounting principles under 
the historical cost convention, 
as modified for the fair value 
of certain financial assets, 
and comply with financial 
reporting standards of the 
Financial Reporting Council, as 
promulgated by The Institute 
of Chartered Accountants in 
Ireland. The company has taken 
advantage of the exemption 
available to it under section 
148(8) of the Companies Act 
1963 which permits a company 
that publishes its company and 
group financial statements 
together not to present its own 

statement of financial activities 
and related notes that form 
part of the approved company 
financial statements. 

Under FRS 1 Cash Flow 
Statements, the company is 
exempt from the requirements 
to prepare a cash flow 
statement on the grounds that 
the consolidated cash flow 
statement presented in these 
financial statements includes 
the company.

Compliance with the 
Accounting and Reporting 
by Charities - Statement of 
Recommended Practice (SORP 
2005), is not mandatory for 
Irish charities, however the 
group has adopted most of its 
disclosure requirements. 

b) Basis of Consolidation

Group companies

The consolidated financial 
statements include the 
financial statements of 
Concern Worldwide and its 
subsidiaries, drawn up to 
December 31, each year.

Branches in the 
developing world

The work of the organisation 
in the developing world is 
carried out through branches 
of the company located in 
the countries of operation. 

Expenditure on goods and 
services made by or on behalf 
of local branches is expensed 
when the costs are incurred. 

The full cost of fixed 
assets and stock incurred 
by branches is included in 
Resources expended on 
charitable activities in the 
year of acquisition and is not 
reflected in the company or 
consolidated balance sheets. 
All other assets and liabilities 
of branches are included in 
the company and consolidated 
balance sheets.

Joint Arrangements

Income receivable and 
resources expended by 
Concern Worldwide, as a 
member of a consortium, 
are reflected as incoming 
resources and resources 
expended in the financial 
statements only to the extent 
that the organisation is 
directly responsible for the 
management and utilisation of 
the funds. 

Affiliated US Organisation

Concern Worldwide (US) Inc. is 
a related, though operationally 
independent company based 
in New York, which supports 
the mission of Concern 
Worldwide by providing 
financial and human resources 
for programmes, recruiting 

1 ACCOUNTING POLICIES
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

staff and raising awareness 
of Concern Worldwide and its 
mission. Concern Worldwide 
(US) Inc. is governed by an 
independent board of directors 
which retains full control over 
the financial and operating 
policies of the company. 
Concern Worldwide (US) Inc. 
is not controlled by Concern 
Worldwide and, therefore, is not 
consolidated in the results of 
Concern Worldwide. 

Grants made by the group 
to meet operational costs 
of Concern Worldwide (US) 
Inc. are included in the cost 
of charitable activities and 
costs of generating funds, 
and are expensed as made. 
Grants received from Concern 
Worldwide (US) Inc. to 
fund overseas projects are 
recognised in the same way as 
grants from other international 
co-funders. 

c) Incoming Resources

Incoming resources are 
recognised by inclusion in the 
consolidated statement of 
financial activities only when 
the group is legally entitled to 
the income, virtually certain 
of receipt and the amounts 
involved can be measured with 
sufficient reliability.

Incoming resources from 
charitable activities

Grants from governments 
and other co-funders

Grants from governments 
and institutional donors, are 
recognised as income when 
the activities which they are 
intended to fund have been 
undertaken, the related 
expenditure incurred, and 
there is reasonable certainty 
of receipt. 

Income due to Concern 
Worldwide from governments 
and institutional sources, but 
not yet received at year-end 
is included in debtors in the 
balance sheet. Funds already 
received but not yet utilised are 
shown in creditors. 

Donated commodities

Donated commodities 
distributed and donated 
services utilised by the 
organisation as part of 
programmes designed, 
implemented, and managed by 
Concern Worldwide are valued 
and included in incoming 
resources in the year in which 
they are utilised. 

Local food products and 
non-food donations are valued 
at the estimated market price 
in their country of origin at the 
time of receipt. 

Donations of food aid, which 
are sourced outside of the area 
in which they are distributed, 
are valued at the estimate of 
open market value provided by 
the donor. Donated services 
are valued on the same basis.

Incoming resources from 
generated funds

Voluntary income

Voluntary income (which 
consists of monetary donations 
from the public and from 
corporates, trusts and major 
donors, together with related 
tax refunds and legacies) 
is recognised in the period 
in which the organisation is 
entitled to the resource, when 
receipt is virtually certain, 
and when the amount can 
be measured with sufficient 
reliability. In the case of 
monetary donations from the 
public this income is generally 
recognised when the donations 
are received, with legacies 
it is when confirmation of 
unconditional entitlement to the 
bequest is received, whereas 
with tax refunds it is when all 
legislative requirements have 
been met and the amounts 
can be measured with 
reasonable certainty.

Grants from corporates, 
trusts, major donors and 
legacies that are subject to 
significant restrictions or 

1 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

reporting requirements are 
recognised when the group is 
legally entitled to the income, 
virtually certain of receipt, the 
amounts can be measured 
with sufficient reliability, the 
activities which they are 
intended to fund have been 
undertaken, and the related 
expenditure incurred.

d) Resources Expended

Resources expended are 
analysed between costs of 
charitable activities, costs 
of generating funds and 
governance costs. The costs 
of each activity are separately 
accumulated and disclosed, 
and analysed according to their 
major components.

Support costs, which cannot 
be attributed directly to 
one activity, are allocated 
to activities in proportion to 
estimated benefits received. 

The costs of public campaigns, 
together with related salary 
costs, which are undertaken 
to meet the dual purposes of 
raising funds and of promoting 
awareness of issues in the 
developing world, are split 
between costs of generating 
funds and costs of charitable 
activities on the basis 
considered appropriate for 
each type of campaign.

Costs of charitable activities 

Costs of charitable activities 
comprise costs of overseas 
programmes and of 
development education and 
advocacy work, together with 
related support costs. 

Donated commodities, 
distributed by the organisation 
as part of programmes 
designed, implemented, 
and managed by Concern 
Worldwide are included as 
costs of charitable activities 
in the year in which they are 
utilised. All costs of charitable 
activities are recognised on an 
accruals basis. 

Costs of generating funds 

Costs of generating funds 
comprise the costs incurred 
in fundraising, including the 
costs of advertising, producing 
publications, printing and 
mailing fundraising material, 
staff costs in these areas 
and an appropriate allocation 
of central overhead costs. 
All costs of generating 
funds are recognised on an 
accruals basis. 

Governance costs 

Governance costs represent 
the salaries, direct expenditure 
and overhead costs incurred 
on the strategic, as opposed 
to day to day management 

of the charity, and on 
compliance with constitutional 
and statutory requirements. 
Costs related to internal 
audit and organisational risk 
management are also included 
in this category. All governance 
costs are recognised on an 
accruals basis. 

e) Fund Accounting

Concern Worldwide maintains 
various types of funds as 
follows:

Restricted funds

Restricted funds represent 
income received that can only 
be used for particular purposes 
specified by the donors. Such 
purposes are within the overall 
aims of the organisation. 

Unrestricted funds

Unrestricted funds consist 
of General funds and 
Designated funds.

(i) General funds represent 
amounts which are expendable 
at the discretion of Council in 
furtherance of the objectives of 
the charity. 

(ii) Designated funds represent 
amounts that Concern 
Worldwide has at its discretion 
set aside for specific purposes, 
which would otherwise form 
part of the general reserves of 

1 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

the organisation. Specifically, 
Concern Worldwide sets 
aside funds to protect its 
ongoing programme of work 
from unexpected variations in 
income, to finance fixed assets 
(both tangible and financial), for 
on-going use by the charity and 
to cover planned future deficits. 

f) Tangible Fixed Assets

Tangible fixed assets (except 
for assets of branches in the 
developing world), are stated 
at cost less accumulated 
depreciation. Depreciation 
is calculated to write off the 
original cost of the tangible 
fixed assets, less estimated 
residual value, over their 
expected useful lives, at the 
following annual rates:

Freehold premises: 3%

Office furniture: 10%

Office equipment: 20%

Computer equipment: 33%

Motor vehicles: 20%

Depreciation is charged on 
a straight-line basis from the 
date on which fixed assets 
are put into use by the group. 
Land is not depreciated and 
no depreciation is charged on 
assets under construction until 
construction is complete and 
the assets are ready for use.

The full cost of fixed assets 
incurred by branches is 
included in resources expended 
on charitable activities in the 
year of acquisition and is not 
reflected in the company or 
consolidated balance sheets. 

Provision is also made for 
any impairment of tangible 
fixed assets below their 
carrying amounts.

g) Financial Fixed Assets

Investment in subsidiaries are 
carried in the parent company 
balance sheet at cost less any 
provision for impairment.

Other financial fixed assets of 
the group and company consist 
of investments undertaken 
to support the organisations 
charitable activities. All 
financial fixed assets are held 
for the long term and are stated 
at fair value with unrealised 
gains /losses recorded in Other 
recognised gains and losses 
in the consolidated statement 
of financial activities. When a 
financial fixed asset is impaired 
or disposed of, any gain or loss 
accumulated is reclassified 
to net (outgoing)/incoming 
resources in the consolidated 
statement of financial activities.

h) Foreign Currencies

The financial statements are 
prepared in euro (€), which 
is the company’s functional 
currency.

Transactions in foreign 
currencies are recorded in 
euro at the rate ruling on 
the date of the transaction. 
Monetary assets and liabilities 
denominated in foreign 
currencies are translated into 
euro at the year-end rate of 
exchange. The resulting gains 
and losses are dealt with in 
Resources expended in the 
consolidated statement of 
financial activities. 

The group’s net investment 
in its overseas subsidiary 
undertakings is translated at 
the rates ruling at the balance 
sheet date. The income and 
expenditure of overseas 
subsidiary undertakings are 
translated at the average 
exchange rates for the year. 
Exchange differences resulting 
from the retranslation of 
the opening balance sheets 
of the overseas subsidiary 
undertakings at closing rates, 
together with the differences 
on translation of the net 
income/expenditure at average 
rates are included in Other 
recognised gains and losses in 
the consolidated statement of 
financial activities. 

1 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)



Concern Worldwide Annual Report and Accounts 2013 78

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

i) Stocks

Stocks comprise relief supplies 
held for transfer to overseas 
operations. Stocks are stated 
at cost, less provisions for 
obsolescence and any other 
diminution in value. Cost is the 
purchase price, net of any trade 
discount, plus any additional 
costs associated with bringing 
the items to their current 
location and condition. 

j) Short Term Investments

In accordance with the 
requirements of Accounting 
and Reporting by Charities – 
Statement of Recommended 
Practice (SORP 2005), equity 
investments held as short 
term investments (including 
donated shares), are stated at 
market value at the balance 
sheet date. All other short 
term investments being short 
term deposits are carried at 
amortised cost. Gains or losses 
arising on the revaluation of 
equity investments during the 
year are included in Other 
recognised gains and losses in 
the consolidated statement of 
financial activities. When equity 
investments are disposed of 
any gain or loss accumulated is 
reclassified to Net (outgoing)/
incoming recourses in the 
consolidated statement of 
financial activities.

k) Taxation

No charge to current or 
deferred taxation arises as 
the group, with the exception 
of Concern Charity Trading 
Limited, has been granted 
exemption by the revenue 
authorities in Ireland and the 
UK. Irrecoverable value added 
tax arising in Ireland and the 
UK is expensed as incurred.

Any taxes arising in, or as a 
result of overseas operations 
are included in the cost of 
direct charitable activities in 
the consolidated statement of 
financial activities.

l) Liquid Resources

Liquid resources comprise 
cash on deposit at banks 
requiring more than 24 hours 
(and less than 3 months), 
notice of withdrawal. These are 
included within current asset 
investments and are carried at 
amortised cost. 

m)  Pensions and Other 
Retirement Benefits

(i)  Defined contribution 
pension schemes

Employer contributions to 
defined contribution pension 
schemes are charged to the 
consolidated statement of 
financial activities as incurred. 

(ii)  Defined benefit 
pension scheme

For the defined benefit 
pension scheme the amount 
charged to the consolidated 
statement of financial activities 
is the actuarially determined 
cost of pension benefits 
which have been promised 
to employees. The expected 
return on the pension scheme’s 
assets during the year and 
the increase in the scheme’s 
liabilities due to the unwinding 
of the discount during the 
year are included under the 
appropriate expenditure 
heading in the consolidated 
statement of financial activities. 

Any difference between the 
expected return on assets and 
that actually achieved due to 
changes in assumptions or 
because actual experience 
during the year was different to 
that assumed, are recognised 
as actuarial gains and losses in 
the consolidated statement of 
financial activities.

The difference between the bid 
value of the scheme’s assets 
and the actuarially assessed 
present value of the scheme’s 
liabilities calculated using 
the projected unit method, is 
disclosed as an asset/liability 
in the balance sheet.

1 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
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(iii)  Liability in relation to 
incapacitated staff

For the liability in relation to 
incapacitated staff, the amount 
charged to the consolidated 
statement of financial 
activities is the actuarially 
determined cost of benefits 
to two ex-staff members for 
the year. The expected return 
on the investments made to 
cover the liabilities and the 
increase in these liabilities 
due to the unwinding of the 
discount during the year are 
included under the appropriate 
expenditure headings in the 
consolidated statement of 
financial activities.

Any differences between the 
expected return on assets and 
that actually achieved due to 
changes in assumptions or 
because actual experience 
during the year was different to 
that assumed, are recognised 
as actuarial gains and losses in 
the consolidated statement of 
financial activities.

The difference between the 
bid value of the assets and the 
actuarially assessed present 
value of the scheme’s liabilities 
calculated using the projected 
unit method, is disclosed 
as an asset/liability in the 
balance sheet. 

(iv)  Overseas local staff 
service payments 

In order to reflect the unfunded 
liability for retirement benefits 
for overseas staff, the 
actuarially determined present 
value of the liability is recorded 
in full in the balance sheet. The 
liability is increased for the cost 
of additional benefits earned 
during the year and that cost 
is charged to the consolidated 
statement of financial activities.  
The unwinding of the discount 
on the liability is shown under 
the appropriate expenditure 
headings in the consolidated 
statement of financial activities.  
Changes to the liability 
as a result of changes in 
measurement assumptions or 
because actual experience is 
different to that assumed are 
considered to be an actuarial 
gain or loss and are included in 
the consolidated statement of 
financial activities.

n)  Interest Bearing 
Borrowings

Interest bearing borrowings 
are recognised initially at 
fair value less attributable 
transaction costs. Subsequent 
to initial recognition, interest 
bearing borrowings are stated 
at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method.

o) Leases

Operating lease rentals 
(income and expenditure) 
are credited/charged to the 
consolidated statement of 
financial activities on a straight-
line basis over respective lease 
terms.

p)  Derivative Financial 
Instruments

Derivatives are entered into 
by the group to economically 
hedge recognised foreign 
currency denominated 
monetary assets and liabilities. 
They are not accounted for 
under hedge accounting but 
rather any gains or losses 
arising are recognised in 
resources expended in the 
consolidated statement of 
financial activities.

1 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
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2 INCOMING RESOURCES

(a)  Incoming resources from charitable activities - grants from governments 
and other co-funders

2013 2012
€'000 €'000

Irish Government

Irish Aid Programme Funding (IAPF) 20,217 19,669

Other grants 2,834 4,766

British Government 7,998 5,976

European Union 25,058 30,977

Concern Worldwide (US) Inc. (including US Government) 15,651 16,408

UN Agencies 5,951 5,207

Norwegian Government 884 2,973

Jersey Overseas Aid 195 366

Scottish Government 461 526

Alliance2015 172 503

Swedish Government 481 290

Other Government 1,164 470

Other 1,999 5,676

Total 83,065 93,807

(b) Incoming resources from charitable activities - donated commodities

Donor Commodity received Donor origin 2013 2012
€'000 €'000

World Food Programme Foodstuffs United Nations 1,527 4,811

United Nations Children Fund Foodstuffs United Nations 407 1,318

United Nations Humanitarian Response Fund Foodstuffs United Nations 273  265 

Department for International Development 
Motor vehicles, 
solar lights, training British Government 161  - 

Food and Agriculture Organisation Seeds and medicine United Nations 136 144

ECHO Flights European Union 65  - 

Catholic Relief Services Foodstuffs USA 2  196 

Action Contre la Faim Foodstuffs France  -  250 

Irish Aid
Tents, blankets, 
mosquito nets and staff Ireland  - 47

Other donors Various Various 228 159

Total 2,799 7,190
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2 INCOMING RESOURCES (continued)

(c) Incoming resources from generated funds - voluntary income

2013 2012
€'000 €'000

Committed giving 20,657 21,458

Legacy income 2,525 1,943

Public appeals and events 11,124 11,520

Corporates, major donors and trusts 4,839 4,579

Disaster Emergency Committee (DEC) 1,416 2,265

Total 40,561 41,765

Concern Worldwide (UK) is a member of the Disaster Emergency Committee (DEC), which is an 
umbrella organisation for UK international NGOs. It conducts advertising and public appeals for 
funds on behalf of its members.

(d) Other incoming resources

2013 2012
€'000 €'000

Deposit interest 108 227

Income from letting premises 85 92

Other income  - 343

Realisation of revaluation gains on investments (Note 14(b)) 711  - 

Total 904 662
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3 EXPENDITURE ON CHARITABLE ACTIVITIES

Expenditure on charitable activities can be analysed as shown below. Many of these programmes 
achieve results in more than one of these categories, but are analysed for this purpose under the 
principle category only.

Programme Own 
work

Grants 
to 

partners

Distribution 
of donated 

commodities

Total 
direct

Support 
(Note 6)

2013 
Total 

2012 
Total

€'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000

Health  26,558  1,573  -  28,131  2,502  30,633 26,485
Education  5,617  663  -  6,280  584  6,864 5,208
Food, income and markets  31,162  7,509  -  38,671  2,933  41,604 37,608
HIV and AIDS  380  661  -  1,041  187  1,228 1,587
Emergency  15,868  11,529  2,799  30,196  2,244  32,440 61,436
Total overseas programmes 79,585 21,935 2,799 104,319 8,450 112,769 132,324

Development education and 
advocacy  3,261  159  - 3,420  442 3,862 3,393

Total charitable expenditure 82,846 22,094 2,799 107,739 8,892 116,631 135,717

Full details of grants to partners are set out in Appendix 3.

4 COSTS OF GENERATING FUNDS

Campaigns Staff Occupancy & 
other direct

 Total 
direct 

Support 
(Note 6)

2013 
Total 

2012 
Total 

€'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000

Committed giving 944 1,340 163 2,447 271 2,718 2,565
Public appeals and events 3,631 2,237 1,494 7,362 749 8,111 7,454
Corporates, major donors and trusts 79 565 159 803 56 859 823

Total 4,654 4,142 1,816 10,612 1,076 11,688 10,842



Concern Worldwide Annual Report and Accounts 2013 83

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

5 GOVERNANCE COSTS

2013 2012
€'000 €'000

Staff costs 333 339

Legal and professional fees 129 152

Office and other costs 253 272

Total 715 763

6 SUPPORT COSTS

Where support costs are attributable to a particular activity the costs are allocated directly to that 
activity. Where support costs are incurred to further more than one activity they are apportioned 
between the relevant activities based on the amount of staff time which each activity absorbs. The 
allocation of the main types of support costs is detailed below.

Charitable Activities

Overseas 
programmes

Development 
education 

and advocacy

Cost of 
generating 

funds

Governance 2013 
Total

2012 
Total (as 

restated)
€'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000

Overseas programme 
management  2,544  -  -  -  2,544  2,583 
Overseas programme 
technical support  1,569  100  -  -  1,669  1,535 
Finance  1,184  91  233  185  1,693 860
Information & 
Communication 
Technology (ICT) and 
other services 922  4  230  179 1,335  1,511 
Human resources 898  -  127  31  1,056  1,241 
Other support costs  1,273  183  127  323  1,906 2,191
Impairment of land 
and freehold premises 
(Note 10) 375 73 367 - 815 -
Defined benefit pension 
scheme past service credit 
(Note 9) (315) (9) (8) (3) (335) (1,321)

Total support costs  8,450  442  1,076  715 10,683 8,600 

The comparitives have been restated for consistency with current year presentation.
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7 OTHER INFORMATION

2013 2012
€'000 €'000

(a) Group
The net outgoing resources for the year is stated after charging/
(crediting) the following items:

Depreciation of tangible fixed assets 499 536

Auditor's remuneration - Group: 
Audit of the group and subsidiary accounts 83 83

Income from letting premises (85) (92)
Reimbursement of expenses claimed by members of Council 5 7
Payments under operating leases for premises used by the group 118 127
Staff retirement liabilities past service credit (190) (1,508)
Interest payable on bank loan 149 156
Profit on disposal of equity investment (711)  - 
Impairment on land and freehold premises 815  - 
Costs incurred in country programmes closed by December 31, 2013 
(Cambodia, India and Zimbabwe) 2,885  - 

(b) Company
Depreciation of tangible fixed assets 472 489

Auditor's remuneration - Company: 
Audit of Concern Worldwide company only accounts 65 65

Staff retirement liabilities past service credit (190) (1,508)
Profit on disposal of equity investment (711) -
Impairment on land and freehold premises 815 -

8 TAXATION

There is no charge to taxation in respect of the parent company and its UK subsidiary, as these 
companies have been granted charitable exemption by the Revenue Authorities in Ireland 
and the UK.  

Concern Charity Trading Limited does not enjoy charitable exemption and is liable to corporation tax. 
A tax charge did not arise in this company in 2013 (2012: Nil). 

During 2013 the group incurred irrecoverable VAT of €0 .9 million (2012: €1 million), of which €0.6 
million was incurred in the Republic of Ireland and €0.3 million was incurred in the UK. 
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9 STAFF

(a) Numbers and costs 

The average weekly number of persons employed by the group during the year in Ireland and the UK 
was 334 (2012: 321). 

The aggregate payroll costs of these employees were as follows:

2013 2012
€'000 €'000

(as restated)

Wages and salaries 11,705 11,736
Social welfare costs 1,189 1,205
Other pension costs 992 926
Defined benefit pension scheme past service credit (335) (1,321)

Total 13,551 12,546

The comparatives have been restated for consistency with current year presentation.

Other pension costs include employer contributions to the defined contribution scheme amounting 
to €710,000 (2012: €654,000)(see Note 18(1)), and the cost of insurance policies that provide 
benefits in the event of the death or ongoing incapacity of staff members amounting to €282,000 
(2012: €272,000). 

Remuneration, including pension contributions, paid to the key management team of the group 
(the executive management team as detailed on page 11) in 2013 amounted to €675,469 
(2012: €700,742). 

In addition to the above, the group employed a number of staff in its overseas operations. The cost of 
these staff members is included in the cost of charitable activities (see Note 3). The full staff profile 
is as follows:

2013 2012

Management and support staff (Ireland & UK) 334 321
Project staff in countries of operation 2,535 2,883

Total 2,869 3,204
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9 STAFF (continued)

(b) Salary range

A total of 10 employees (2012: 11), who are based in Ireland and the UK, earned remuneration in excess 
of €70,000 per annum as follows:

2013 2012
No. employees No. employees

€70,001 to €80,000 2 3

€80,001 to €90,000 6 6

€90,001 to €100,000 2 1

€120,001 to €130,000  - 1

Remuneration includes salaries and any benefits in kind but excludes employer pension scheme contributions.

There were no employees whose remuneration was greater than €70,000 to whom retirement benefits 
were accruing under defined benefit pension schemes in 2013 (2012: 1).

Contributions of between 7.5% and 9% of salary were made by the company to the defined contribution 
pension scheme for 10 (2012: 10) members of staff who earned in excess of €70,000.

The group has a remuneration policy that has been agreed by its Council. This policy states that the 
group seeks to be competitive with its peers in each of the markets in which it operates. As a general 
principle this means the group has pitched its salaries at the median of the market place. A salary 
grading structure has been in place for a number of years and has been approved by the Council.

All employees based in Ireland received a pay cut in 2009. Salary bands have been frozen since then 
and no cost of living increases have been awarded.

Concern Worldwide’s current CEO, Dominic MacSorley, is paid €99,000 per year and receives a 9% 
contribution to a defined contribution pension scheme. He receives no additional benefits.

(c) Remuneration of Council members

None of the members of Council received remuneration for their services. Expenses, incurred in 
travelling to meetings of the Council and subsidiary boards, that were reimbursed to members amounted 
to €5,387 (2012: €6,917). 

The group has a programme in place whereby the Council members periodically visit a Concern 
Worldwide country of operation in order to ensure that that they are familiar with Concern’s work 
on the ground. The costs of these visits (which comprise medicals, visas, economy flights and basic 
accommodation), are generally borne by the group and in 2013 amounted to €3,875 (2012: €11,692).
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10 TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS

Tangible Fixed Assets Group

Land & freehold 
premises

Office furniture
& equipment

Computer
equipment

Motor
vehicles

Total

€'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000

Cost
At beginning of year 19,141 1,616 4,119 43 24,919
Additions in year  -  5 60  - 65
Exchange difference (6) (5) (8)  - (19)

At end of year 19,135 1,616 4,171 43 24,965

Depreciation and impairment provisions
At beginning of year 2,589 1,418 3,933 27 7,967
Impairment charge 815  -  -  - 815
Depreciation charge for year 303 51 140 5 499
Exchange difference (3) (4) (9)  - (16)

At end of year 3,704 1,465 4,064 32 9,265

Net book value

At December 31, 2013 15,431 151 107  11 15,700

At December 31, 2012 16,552 198 186  16 16,952

During 2013 the Council reviewed the value of its land and freehold premises and decided they 
should write down the value of these assets to their recoverable amount. This has resulted in an 
impairment charge of €0.8 million. The Council is satisfied that the service potential of all other fixed 
assets held by the group has not diminished, and therefore no further provision for impairment has 
been made at December 31, 2013.
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10 TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS (continued)

Tangible Fixed Assets - Company

Land & freehold  
premises

Office furniture
& equipment

Computer
equipment

Motor
vehicles

Total

€'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000

Cost
At beginning of year 18,906 1,371 3,745 43 24,065
Additions in year  - 5 54  - 59

At end of year 18,906 1,376 3,799 43 24,124

Depreciation and impairment provisions
At beginning of year 2,453 1,204 3,570 27 7,254
Impairment charge 815  -  -  - 815
Depreciation charge for year 297 42 129 4 472

At end of year 3,565 1,246 3,699 31 8,541

Net book value

At December 31, 2013 15,341 130 100 12 15,583

At December 31, 2012 16,453 167 175 16 16,811

During 2013 the Council reviewed the value of its land and freehold premises and decided they 
should write down the value of these assets to their recoverable amount. This has resulted in an 
impairment charge of €0.8 million. The Council is satisfied that the service potential of all other fixed 
assets held by the company has not diminished, and therefore no further provision for impairment has 
been made at December 31, 2013.

11 FINANCIAL FIXED ASSETS

Group Company
2013
€'000

2012
€'000

2013
€'000

2012
€'000

AMK 2,361 323 2,361 323
Other investments 4 4 10 4

Total 2,365 327 2,371 327
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11 FINANCIAL FIXED ASSETS (continued)

AMK 

Concern Worldwide hold a 13% shareholding in Angkor Mikroheranhvatho Kampuchea Limited 
(AMK), a microfinance institution in Cambodia and a former wholly owned subsidiary , which is 
valued at €2.4million (2012: €0.3million) (Note 24(e)). At the balance sheet date Concern Worldwide 
was in the process of disposing of this 13% holding and expects that this transaction will be 
concluded in 2014.

Concern Worldwide disposed of its beneficial interest in the remaining 87% of its equity holding 
in AMK in prior years. At the balance sheet date the Cambodian regulatory authorities had not yet 
formally approved the legal transfer of all of this shareholding. Concern Worldwide and the beneficial 
owner of the shares have agreed to take all steps necessary to complete the legal transfer of the 
remaining shares as soon as is reasonably possible. In the interim, as Concern Worldwide is still the 
registered legal holder of the major part of the issued share capital of AMK,  it is required to ensure 
that AMK is in compliance with the laws and regulations governing financial institutions in Cambodia.

12 STOCK

Group Company
2013
€'000

2012
€'000

2013
€'000

2012
€'000

Stock 52 113 52 113

Stock is comprised of relief supplies held for transfer to countries of operation. In the opinion of 
Council, the replacement cost of stock on hand at the year end did not differ materially from the 
carrying value.

13 DEBTORS AND PREPAYMENTS

Group Company
2013
€'000

2012
€'000

2013
€'000

2012
€'000

Amounts due from co-funders 13,773 13,710 12,048 12,480
Prepayments 58 50 51 44
Sundry debtors 1,239 2,163 104 320
Amounts due from subsidiary  -  -  - 117
Deposit interest receivable 4 10 4 10

Total 15,074 15,933 12,207 12,971

All amounts included within debtors and prepayments fall due within one year. The group’s exposure 
to credit and foreign exchange risk is disclosed in Note 24.
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14 INVESTMENTS

Group Company
2013
€'000

2012
€'000

2013
€'000

2012
€'000

Short term deposits (a) 18,274 20,061 18,274 20,061
Equity investments (b)  - 2,657  - 2,657

Total 18,274 22,718 18,274 22,718

(a)  Cash holdings which are not immediately required for operations are invested in short term 
interest bearing deposits which are maintained with financial institutions that have a satisfactory 
credit rating as approved by Council. All of these deposits are held at variable interest rates. 
There are no material differences between the fair value of these deposits and their carrying 
value owing to their short term duration. At December 31, 2013 the deposits were held; in euro 
€6.5 million (2012: €7.0 million); US dollar $8.6 million (2012: US$8.6 million ); and sterling £3.4 
million (2012: £3.9 million). The weighted average interest rates related to these deposits were 
on euro deposits; 0.58% (2012: 1.27%); US dollar deposits 0.57% (2012: 0.82%); and sterling 
deposits 0.49% (2012: 1.11%).

  The risk arising from concentration of investments is reduced by limits on amounts held with 
individual banks or institutions at any one time.

(b)  The group disposed of its equity investments in 2013. The market value of the investment 
increased during the year resulting in a gain of € 0.3 million at the time of disposal. Cummulative 
realised gains on these investments of €0.7 million has been recognised in Other incoming 
resources (Note 2(d)).

(c)  As defined in the group accounting policies, restricted funds of €2.9 million (2012: €4.7 million) 
(see Note 19(a)) are included in the deposits set out above. Restricted funds of the company of 
€2.3 million (2012: €4.7 million) (see Note 19(b)) are included in the deposits set out above.

(d)  The disclosures required by FRS 29 Financial Instruments: Disclosures are set out on Note 24 - 
Financial Risk Management.
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15 CASH AT BANK AND IN HAND

Group Company
2013
€'000

2012
€'000

2013
€'000

2012
€'000

Funds held in Ireland and the UK 3,197 1,097 2,692 565
Funds held in countries of operation 3,947 3,996 3,947 3,996

Total 7,144 5,093 6,639 4,561

All funds held in Ireland and the UK are held with banks that have a satisfactory credit rating as 
approved by Council. Funds held overseas are maintained in the most secure financial institutions 
available in countries of operation. All of the above funds are available for immediate use 
by the group/company.

The disclosures required by FRS 29 Financial Instruments: Disclosures are set out in Note 24 - 
Financial Risk Management.

16 CREDITORS: AMOUNTS FALLING DUE WITHIN ONE YEAR

Group Company
2013
€'000

2012
€'000

2013
€'000

2012
€'000

Trade creditors and accruals 3,009 2,409 2,539 1,825
Bank overdraft 3 100 - 69
Amounts received from co-funders but unspent 9,232 10,736 7,631 9,506

Bank loan (see Note 17) 556 540 556 540
Amount due to subsidiaries - - 787  - 

Total 12,800 13,785 11,513 11,940

The bank overdraft is repayable on demand.
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17 CREDITORS: AMOUNTS FALLING DUE AFTER MORE THAN ONE YEAR

Group Company
2013
€'000

2012
€'000

2013
€'000

2012
€'000

 

Bank loan 4,644 5,200 4,644 5,200 

In 2008 Concern Worldwide obtained a loan from its bankers for an original sum of €8 million 
in order to finance the purchase and renovation of a building adjacent to its existing head office. 
The interest rate on €3 million of the loan was fixed in 2012 for five years at a rate of 3.03%. The 
remainder of the loan attracts an interest charge, based on the Bank of Ireland cost of funds (BCOF) 
rate plus a fixed margin of 0.59% per annum. The average interest rate paid on the loan for 2013 was 
1.86%. The loan is repayable over 240 months by way of monthly repayments, which commenced on 
August 11, 2008. This loan is secured by a fixed charge over the property at 23/25 Grantham Street, 
Dublin 8. The portion of the loan repayable within 1 year is disclosed under Note 16 - Creditors - 
Amounts falling due within one year.

The disclosures required by FRS 29 Financial Instruments: Disclosures are set out in Note 24 - 
Financial Risk Management.

18 STAFF RETIREMENT LIABILITIES

The group and company operate different staff retirement arrangements for three main categories of 
staff; staff based in Ireland and the UK, national staff based in overseas countries of operation and 
ex-staff who receive benefits due to incapacitation related to their work with Concern.

 The current schemes are as follows:

 (1) Defined contribution pension scheme - which is open to all current ROI & UK staff

 (2) Defined benefit pension arrangements:
 (a) Defined benefit pension scheme - pre 1993 pension scheme for ROI and UK staff
 (b) Overseas local staff service payments
 (c) Benefits for incapacitated staff
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18 STAFF RETIREMENT LIABILITIES (continued)

(1) Defined contribution pension scheme

 The company operates a defined contribution pension scheme for all qualifying members of current 
staff in ROI and UK. The contributions are paid into a separate fund, the assets of which are invested 
by independent Trustees. 

 The defined contribution pension scheme charge for 2013 was €0.7 million (2012: €0.7 million) all of 
which related to employees in Ireland and the UK. At December 31, 2013 an accrual of €0.09 million 
(2012: €0.09 million), in respect of pension costs is included in creditors, all of which relates to the 
parent company.

(2) Defined benefit pension arrangements

At the balance sheet date, the liabilities in relation to defined benefit arrangements are as follows:

Group & Company
2013
€'000

2012
€'000

(Surplus)/deficit on defined benefit pension scheme (see (a) below) (702) 1,033
Liability for overseas local staff service payments (see (b) below) 3,292 3,387
Liability for incapacitated staff benefits (see (c) below) 178 382

Total 2,768 4,802

The movement in the pension asset/liabilities during the year was as follows:

Defined 
benefit 

pension 
scheme

Overseas local 
staff service 

payments

Liability for 
incapacitated 

staff

Total 
2013

Total
2012

€'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000

Balance at beginning of year (1,033) (3,387) (382) (4,802) (5,036)

Current service costs  - (903)  - (903) (1,144)
Interest cost (390) (133) (32) (555) (669)
Expected return on assets 444  - 15 459 462
Net actuarial gain/(loss) 931 133 73 1,137 (1,560)
Contributions/benefits paid during the year 686 998 22 1,706 1,637
Past service credit  64  -  126  190  1,508 

Balance at end of year 702 (3,292) (178) (2,768) (4,802)



Concern Worldwide Annual Report and Accounts 2013 94

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

18  STAFF RETIREMENT LIABILITIES (continued)

(2) Defined benefit pension arrangements (continued)

The movement in the liabilities during the year has been reflected in the consolidated statement of 
financial activities as follows:

Defined 
benefit 

pension 
scheme

Overseas 
local staff 

service 
payments

Liability for 
incapacitated 

staff

Total 
2013

Total 
2012

€'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000

Cost of charitable activities - (credit)/charge (99) 1,036 (109) 828 48
Cost of generating voluntary income - (credit) (13)  -  - (13) (197)
Governance costs - (credit) (6)  -  - (6) (8)

Total of amounts included in resources 
expended in the consolidated statement of 
financial activities (118) 1,036 (109) 809 (157)

Other gains and losses: Actuarial (gain)/loss 
on the schemes (931) (133) (73) (1,137) 1,560

Total of amounts included in 
the consolidated statement of 
financial activities (1,049) 903 (182) (328) 1,403

Contributions/benefits paid during the year (686) (998) (22) (1,706) (1,637)

Total decrease in liabilities during the year (1,735) (95) (204) (2,034) (234)

(a) Defined benefit pension scheme

The company operates a defined benefit pension scheme, providing benefits based on final 
pensionable salary as at March 31, 2009. This scheme was closed to new members in 1993 and any 
existing staff who were still members moved to the defined contribution scheme in 2009. As a result 
of these changes no current or future benefits are being accrued under the defined benefit scheme. 
The scheme continues however to provide life assurance benefits to staff based on their annual 
salaries during their period of scheme membership.
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18 STAFF RETIREMENT LIABILITIES (continued)

(a) Defined benefit pension scheme (continued)

A review of the scheme in 2012 lead to the preparation of a revised funding proposal in conjunction 
with a Section 50 application. The Section 50 application, which provided for an amendment to 
post retirement pension increases (namely the reduction of the current fixed rate of escalation from 
3% pa to the lesser of CPI or 3% pa), and the cessation of a discretionary practice of providing 
revaluation in respect of the defined pensions relating to pensionable service completed prior to 
January 1, 1991, was approved by the Pensions Board. In addition, benefit adjustments have been 
implemented to offset the cost of the pensions levy paid to date.

The revised funding proposal provides for the company to make annual contributions of €0.2 million 
per annum in addition to maintaining its existing contribution rate of 25% of revalued pensionable 
salaries as at March 31, 2009 until October 1, 2018. The company also made a special contribution of 
€0.3 million in March 2013 as part of this revised funding proposal.

The most recent full valuation of the scheme was as at January 1, 2013 and was updated for FRS 17 
Retirement Benefits purposes to December 31, 2013 by a qualified independent actuary.

(i) Financial assumptions

The principal financial assumptions used to calculate the retirement benefit liabilities were as follows:

2013 2012
Valuation method Projected unit method Projected unit method

Discount rate for scheme liabilities 3.80% 3.70%
Inflation rate 2.00% 2.00%
Rate of increase to pensions in payment 1.75% 1.75%
Salary increases N/A N/A

The mortality assumptions allow for future improvements in longevity, the valuation uses 108% of 
PNXL00 (U2013) mortality table for current employees and retired members. The assumptions are 
equivalent to expecting a 65 year old to live for a number of years as follows; current pensioner aged 65 
years and future retiree upon reaching 65 years of age; male - 22.7 years (2012: 22.5 years) and female 
- 24 years (2012: 23.9 years). The assumptions used by the actuary are chosen from a range of possible 
actuarial assumptions, which, due to the timescale covered, may not necessarily be borne out in practice.

If the life expectancy of a member had been changed to assume all members of the fund lived for 
one year longer, the value of the reported liabilities at December 31, 2013 would have increased by 
€0.3 million (2012: €0.3 million).

Assumptions relating to future salary increases are not applicable in 2013 as, with effect from March 
31, 2009, there are no future benefits accruing.
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18 STAFF RETIREMENT LIABILITIES (continued)

(a) Defined benefit pension scheme (continued)

(ii) Valuation

The scheme assets are stated at their bid value at each balance sheet date. The present value of the 
liability to meet future pension payments is arrived at by applying a discount rate equivalent to the 
rate of return expected to be derived from a Class AA corporate bond.

Using these bases, the valuation was as follows:

Long term rate of 
return expected at 
December 31, 2013

Value at 
December 31, 

2013

Long term rate of 
return expected at 
December 31, 2012

Value at
December 31, 2012

€'000 €'000

Bonds 2.65% 4,489 3.10% 2,381
Other/Cash 4.50% 3,246 2.00% 840
Equities 6.40% 3,345 6.30% 6,281
Property 5.40% 143 5.30% 139

Total fair value of pension scheme assets 11,223 9,641

Present value of pension scheme liabilities (10,521) (10,674)

Net surplus/(deficit) in defined benefit 
pension scheme 702 (1,033)

The group employs a building block approach in determining the rate of return on pension scheme 
assets. Historical markets are studied and assets with higher volatility are assumed to generate 
higher returns consistent with widely accepted capital market principles. The assumed rate of return 
on each asset class is set out above. The overall expected rate of return on assets is then derived by 
aggregating the expected return for each asset class over the actual asset allocation for the scheme 
at the balance sheet date.
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18 STAFF RETIREMENT LIABILITIES (continued)

(a) Defined benefit pension scheme (continued)

(iii) Movement in fair value of scheme assets

2013 2012
€'000 €'000

Opening fair value of scheme assets 9,641 8,344

Expected return on assets 444 447
Employer contributions - cash 686 383
Net benefits paid (222) (206)
Net actuarial gain on assets 674 673

Closing fair value of scheme assets 11,223 9,641

Actual return on pension scheme assets 1,118 1,120

(iv) Movement in present value of scheme liabilities

2013 2012
€'000 €'000

Opening present value of scheme liabilities (10,674) (9,548)

Reduction to past service costs 64  1,508 
Interest cost (390) (472)
Net benefits paid 222 206
Net actuarial gain/(loss) on liabilities 257 (2,368)

Closing present value of scheme liabilities (10,521) (10,674)

The past service credit in 2013 arises from the treatment of the pension levy (imposed by the Irish 
Government). The company declined to bear the cost of the pension levy and as a result the Trustees 
notified members that the cost of that levy at June 30, 2013 of €0.06 million (2012: €0.05 million) 
would have to be borne by the scheme members. In the prior year the change in scheme benefits (as 
outlined on page 95) lead to an additional credit of €1.46 million.
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18 STAFF RETIREMENT LIABILITIES (continued)

(a) Defined benefit pension scheme (continued)

(v) History of defined benefit pension scheme

2013 2012 2011 2010 2009
€'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000

Fair value of scheme assets 11,223 9,641 8,344 8,565 6,115
Present value of scheme liabilities (10,521) (10,674) (9,548) (8,948) (8,902)

Surplus/(deficit) in scheme 702 (1,033) (1,204) (383) (2,787)

Experience gains/(losses) on scheme assets 674 673 (952) 286 604
Expressed as a percentage of scheme assets 6.01% 6.98% (11.41%) 3.34% 9.88%

Experience gains/(losses) on scheme liabilities 76 12 (36) 116 (57)
Expressed as a percentage of scheme liabilities (0.72%) (0.11%) 0.38% (1.30%) 0.64%

(vi) Expected expense in 2014

Using the same assumptions as have been used at December, 31 2013 the charge to the 
consolidated statement of financial activities for 2014 is expected to be €0.09 million.

(b) Overseas local staff service payments 

In some of its overseas operations, the company has legal or constructive obligations to pay lump 
sum benefits to national staff on cessation of their employment. While the precise obligation varies 
from country  to country it typically requires that the amount payable be based on terminal salary and 
length of service.

The schemes are not externally funded i.e. assets have not been placed in separately administered 
trusts to meet liabilities as they arise, instead the gross value of likely future payments is recognised 
as a liability at each balance sheet date.

As benefits payable under these schemes meet the definition of retirement benefits set out in FRS 
17 Retirement Benefits, the company requested advice from independent professional actuaries, 
AON Hewitt, to review the methodology being utilised to determine liabilities in order to ensure that 
it would produce results in accordance with the standard. The actuarial assessment concluded that 
the methodology being used would produce calculations that materially meet the requirements of 
the standard, and in addition, it provided the information below in order to reflect the schemes in 
accordance with the requirements of FRS 17 Retirement Benefits.
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18 STAFF RETIREMENT LIABILITIES (continued)

(b) Overseas local staff service payments (continued)

(i) Financial assumptions

The main financial assumptions used to calculate the retirement benefit liabilities were as follows:

2013 2012

Rate of general long-term increase in salaries - US$ linked liabilities 5.00% 4.10%
Discount rate for liabilities - US$ 5.00% 4.10%
Rate of general long-term increase in salaries - EUR€ linked liabilities 3.80% 3.70%
Discount rate for liabilities - EUR€ 3.80% 3.70%
Rate of general long-term increase in salaries - Stg£ linked liabilities 4.40% 4.50%
Discount rate for liabilities - Stg£ 4.40% 4.50%

(ii) Valuation

Using these assumptions the unfunded liability was as follows:

Value at
December 

31, 2013

Value at
December 

31, 2012
€'000 €'000

Present value of scheme liabilities (3,292) (3,387)

Unfunded scheme liability (3,292) (3,387)

(iii) Movements in unfunded scheme liabilities

2013 2012
€'000 €'000

Scheme liability at beginning of year (3,387) (3,473)

Current service costs (903) (1,144)
Benefits paid during the year 998 1,230
Interest cost (133) (165)
Actuarial gain 133 165

Unfunded scheme liability at end of year (3,292) (3,387)
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18 STAFF RETIREMENT LIABILITIES (continued)

(b) Overseas local staff service payments (continued)

(iv) History of unfunded scheme liability

2013 2012 2011 2010 2009
€'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000

Present value of unfunded scheme liabilities (3,292) (3,387) (3,473) (3,025) (3,116)
Experience gains on scheme liabilities 133 165 177 177 199
Expressed as a percentage of scheme liabilities (4.04%) (4.87%) (5.10%) (5.85%) (6.39%)

(v) Expected expense in 2014

Using the same assumptions as have been used at December 31, 2013 the charge to the 
consolidated statement of financial activities for 2014 in respect of overseas local staff payments is 
expected to be €1 million.

(c) Liability for incapacitated staff 

The group pays ongoing benefits to two ex-staff members who became incapacitated while working 
overseas. The group believes that it has a moral and constructive obligation to continue to make these 
payments for as long as they are needed and as a result, it has recognised a liability for these payments.

The group made investments to cover the liability to the incapacitated staff and these were 
transferred into a discretionary trust for the benefit of the relevant individuals in 2007.

As required by FRS 17 Retirement Benefits, an updated actuarial assessment of the liabilities to the 
incapacitated staff was carried out using the projected unit method at December 31, 2013 by AON 
Hewitt on behalf of the group.

(i) Financial assumptions

The main financial assumptions used to calculate the liability for incapacity benefits payable were 
as follows:

2013 2012

Rate of increase in benefits in payment 1.75% 3.00%
Inflation rate 2.00% 2.00%
Discount rate for liabilities - EUR € 3.80% 3.70%
Discount rate for liabilities - Stg £ 4.40% 4.50%

In line with the changes made to the defined benefit pension scheme in 2012 the rate of increase in 
benefits has been changed from a fixed 3% p.a. to the lesser of CPI or 3% p.a

In addition it has been assumed that the beneficiaries will enjoy a normal lifespan of eighty nine 
years, they are currently aged forty-nine and sixty years.
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18 STAFF RETIREMENT LIABILITIES (continued)

(c) Liability for incapacitated staff (continued)

(ii) Valuation

The assets are stated at their bid value at each balance sheet date. The present value of the liability 
to meet future payments is arrived at by applying a discount rate equivalent to the rate of return 
expected to be derived from a Class AA corporate bond.

Using these bases the valuation was as follows:

Long term rate of 
return expected 
at December 31, 

2013

Value at 
December 

31, 2013

Long term rate of 
return expected 
at December 31, 

2012

Value at 
December 

31, 2012

€'000 €'000

Bonds 2.65% - 3.10% 1
Equities 6.40% - 6.30% 5
Other 2.00% 109 2.00% 104
Property 5.40% 248 5.30% 237

Total market value of incapacitated staff arrangement assets 357   347 

Present value of pension liabilities (535) (729)

 

Net deficit in incapacitated staff arrangement (178) (382)

The group employs a building block approach in determining the rate of return on the incapacitated 
staff arrangement assets. Historical markets are studied and assets with higher volatility are 
assumed to generate higher returns consistent with widely accepted capital market principles. The 
assumed rate of return on each asset class is set out above. The overall expected rate of return on 
assets is then derived by aggregating the expected return for each asset class over the actual asset 
allocation for the arrangement at the balance sheet date.

(iii) Movement in fair value of scheme assets

2013 2012
€'000 €'000

Opening fair value of assets 347 314

Expected return on assets 15 15
Employer contributions 22 24
Benefits paid out (22) (24)
Actuarial (losses)/gains on assets (5) 18

Closing fair value of assets 357 347

Actual return on scheme assets 10 33
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18 STAFF RETIREMENT LIABILITIES (continued)

(c) Liability for incapacitated staff (continued)

(iv) Changes to the present value of liabilities

2013 2012
€'000 €'000

Opening present value of liabilities (729) (673)

Interest cost (32) (32)
Net benefits paid for the year 22  24 
Past service credit 126  - 
Actuarial gains/(losses) on liabilities 78 (48)

Closing present value of liabilities (535) (729)

(v) History of liability for incapacitated staff

2013 2012 2011 2010 2009
€'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000

Fair value of assets 357 347 314 323  317 
Present value of liabilities (535) (729) (673) (602) (573)

Deficit in scheme (178) (382) (359) (279) (256)

Experience (losses)/gains on assets (5) 18 (27) (13) (109)
Expressed as a percentage of scheme assets (1.40%) 5.19% (8.60%) 4.02% (34.38%)

Experience gains/(losses) on liabilities 84 3 9 (3) 88
Expressed as a percentage of scheme liabilities (15.70%) (0.41%) (1.34%) 0.50% (15.36%)

(vi) Expected expense in 2014

Using the same assumptions as have been used at December 31, 2013 the charge to the 
consolidated statement of financial activities in 2014 in respect of the incapacitated staff 
arrangements is expected to be €0.007 million.
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19 FUNDS

(a) Reconciliation of funds - group

Restricted
funds

Unrestricted
funds

Total 
2013

Total 
2012

€'000 €'000 €'000 €'000

Total funds at beginning of year 4,747 32,602 37,349 42,352

Movement in funds
Net outgoing resources for the year before 
other recognised gains and losses (1,893) 188 (1,705) (3,898)
Exchange (loss)/gain on consolidation of 
foreign subsidiary  6 (44) (38) 46
Unrealised gain on revaluation of investments  - 2,365 2,365 409
Realisation of revaluation gains on investments  - (711) (711)  - 
Actuarial gain/(loss) on staff retirement schemes  - 1,137 1,137 (1,560)
Net movement in funds for the year (1,887) 2,935 1,048 (5,003)

Total funds at end of year 2,860 35,537 38,397 37,349

The funds held by the group at December 31, 2013 are made up as follows:

Company Subsidiaries Total
2013

Total
2012

€'000 €'000 €'000 €'000

Restricted funds 2,349 511 2,860 4,747
Unrestricted funds 33,852 1,685 35,537 32,602

Total 36,201 2,196 38,397 37,349

(b) Reconciliation of funds - company

Restricted
funds

Unrestricted
funds

Total 
2013

Total 
2012

€'000 €'000 €'000 €'000

Total funds at beginning of year 4,747 30,812 35,559 40,718

Movement in funds
Net outgoing resources for the year before other 
recognised gains and losses (2,398) 249 (2,149) (4,008)
Unrealised gain on revaluation of investments  - 2,365 2,365 409
Realisation of revaluation gains on investments  - (711) (711)  - 
Actuarial gain/(loss) on staff retirement schemes  - 1,137 1,137 (1,560)
Net movement in funds for the year (2,398) 3,040 642 (5,159)

Total funds at end of year 2,349 33,852 36,201 35,559
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19 FUNDS (continued)

(c) Movements in funds

The movements in funds classified in accordance with the group accounting policies are as follows:

Notes Balance 
at January 

1, 2013

Income Expenditure Other 
recognised 

gains and 
losses

Transfers Balance at 
December  

31, 2013

€'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000
Restricted funds
Afghanistan  -  3,622  3,622  -  -  - 
Bangladesh  436  5,251  5,687  -  -  - 
Burundi  -  1,365  1,365  -  -  - 
Cambodia  -  43  43  -  -  - 
Chad  250  1,659  1,909  -  -  - 
DPR Korea  -  1,728  1,728  -  -  - 
DR Congo  -  4,853  4,853  -  -  - 
Ethiopia  -  6,911  6,911  -  -  - 
Haiti  972  6,838  7,810  -  -  - 
India  -  395  395  -  -  - 
Kenya  691  4,520  5,211  -  -  - 
Lebanon  -  1,458  1,212  -  246   
Liberia  -  2,007  2,007  -  -  - 
Malawi  -  2,351  2,351  -  -  - 
Mozambique  -  2,174  2,174  -  -  - 
Niger  215  5,764  5,869  -  -  110   
Pakistan  925  10,089  10,568  -  -  446   
Philippines  -  2,894  1,333 6  -  1,567   
Republic of Sudan  -  4,104  4,104  -  -  - 
Rwanda  -  1,310  1,310  -  -  - 
Sierra Leone  -  3,511  3,511  -  -  - 
Somalia  1,181  7,538  8,667  -  -  52   
South Sudan  -  3,985  3,985  -  -  - 
Syria- Turkey  -  935  575  -  -  360   
Tanzania  -  2,567  2,567  -  -  - 
Uganda  -  1,997  1,997  -  -  - 
Zambia  -  1,883  1,883  -  -  - 
Zimbabwe  -  1,343  1,343  -  -  - 
HQ and other projects  77  3,550  3,548  -  -  79   
Total restricted funds (i) 4,747 96,645 98,538 6  - 2,860   

Unrestricted funds
General funds (ii) 158 30,903 30,715 2,747 (2,978) 115
 
Designated funds: (iii)

Planned budget deficit (iv) 1,310  -  -  - (1,018) 292
Tangible fixed assets (v) 10,865  -  -  - (634) 10,231
Programme continuity fund (vi) 19,942  -  -  - 2,592 22,534
Financial fixed assets (vii)  327  -  -  - 2,038 2,365

Total unrestricted funds 32,602 30,903 30,715 2,747 - 35,537   

Total funds (viii) 37,349 127,548 129,253 2,753 - 38,397   
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19 FUNDS (continued)

(c) Movements in funds (continued)

The funds carried forward at December 31, 2013 are:

Restricted funds 

(i)  Restricted funds represent income received that can only be used for particular purposes 
specified by donors. Such purposes are within the overall aims of the group. It is the group’s 
policy to fully apply such funds for the purposes for which they were donated as quickly 
as possible. 

Unrestricted funds

(ii)  General unrestricted funds are for use at the discretion of the Council in furtherance of the 
objectives of the group.

(iii)  Designated funds represent amounts that Concern Worldwide has at its discretion set aside for 
specific purposes, which would otherwise form part of the general reserves of the group. At the 
end of 2013 funds had been designated for specific purposes as follows:

(iv)  Funds set aside to cover the expected deficit on unrestricted funds in 2014.

(v)  The carrying value of tangible fixed assets for use by the group less associated bank debt. 

(vi)  The net amount that Council has agreed to be set aside to ensure that it can protect its 
ongoing programme of work from unexpected variances in income.

(vii)  The fair market value of the group's financial fixed assets.

The group's policy is to retain sufficient reserves to safeguard the continuity of its overseas 
operations, thereby committing the maximum possible resources to its current programmes. Council 
reviews the level of reserves held periodically. The last review was done in conjunction with the 
approval of the 2014 budget. At that time it was agreed that the restricted reserves should be utilised 
as soon as reasonably possible, and that the 2014 expenditure plans were not expected to move the 
group’s unrestricted reserves from the 2013 levels, which are felt to be optimal.
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19 FUNDS (continued)

(c) Movements in funds (continued)

(viii)  Analysis of group net assets between funds

Restricted
Funds

Unrestricted
Funds

Total 
Funds

€'000 €'000 €'000

Fund balances at December 31, 2013 are represented by:
Tangible fixed assets  - 15,700 15,700
Financial fixed assets  - 2,365 2,365
Current assets 2,860 37,684 40,544
Current liabilities - (12,800) (12,800)
Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year  - (4,644) (4,644)
Staff retirement liabilities  - (2,768) (2,768)

Total 2,860 35,537 38,397

(viii)  Analysis of company net assets between funds

Restricted
Funds

Unrestricted
Funds

Total 
Funds

€'000 €'000 €'000

Fund balances at December 31, 2013 are represented by:
Tangible fixed assets  - 15,583 15,583
Financial fixed assets  - 2,371 2,371
Current assets 2,349 34,823 37,172
Current liabilities - (11,513) (11,513)
Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year  - (4,644) (4,644)
Staff retirement liabilities  - (2,768) (2,768)

Total 2,349 33,852 36,201
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20  RECONCILIATION OF NET OUTGOING RESOURCES TO NET CASH INFLOW 
FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

2013 2012
€'000 €'000

Net outgoing resources before other recognised gains and losses (1,705) (3,898)
Deposit interest earned (108) (227)
Bank interest charged 149 156
Depreciation 499 536
Impairment charge 815 -
Difference between pension charge and cash contributions (898) (1,794)
Decrease/(increase) in stocks 61 (53)
Decrease in debtors 853 2,984
Decrease in creditors (904) (9,609)
Exchange movement (25) 24
Gain on disposal of equity investment (711) -

Net cash outflow from operating activities (1,974) (11,881)

21 RETURN ON INVESTMENT AND SERVICING OF DEBT

2013 2012
€'000 €'000

Deposit interest received 115 243
Bank interest paid (149) (156)

(34) 87

22  ANALYSIS OF CASH FLOWS FOR HEADINGS NETTED IN THE CASH FLOW STATEMENT

2013 2012
€'000 €'000

Capital expenditure and financial investment
Payments to acquire tangible fixed assets (65) (243)
Proceeds on disposal of equity investment 2,986 1

Net cash inflow/(outflow) from capital expenditure and financial investment 2,921 (242)

Financing

Financing - decrease in bank loan (540) (534)

Management of liquid resources

Decrease in short term deposits 1,787 8,255
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23 MOVEMENT IN CASH, LIQUID RESOURCES AND FINANCING

Opening 
Balance

Net cash 
flow

Foreign 
exchange 

difference

Closing 
Balance

2013
€'000

2013
€'000

2013
€'000

2013
€'000

Cash at bank and in hand 5,093 2,064 (13)  7,144 
Bank overdraft (100) 96 1 (3)

4,993 2,160 (12)  7,141 
Liquid resources 20,061 (1,787)  -  18,274 

Total cash resources 25,054 373 (12) 25,415

Financing  
Proceeds from borrowings - bank loan due within one year (540) (16)  - (556)
Proceeds from borrowings - bank loan due after one year (5,200) 556  - (4,644)

Total financing (5,740) 540  - (5,200)

Total movement in cash, liquid resources 
and financing 19,314 913 (12) 20,215

24 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The group’s operations expose it to different financial risks that include credit risk, interest 
rate risk, foreign exchange rate risk, equity risk and liquidity risk. The group has financial risk 
management policies in place as approved by Council which seek to limit the impact of these 
risks on the performance of the group. It is the aim of the group to manage these risks in a 
non-speculative manner.

The group and company has provided the disclosures required by FRS 29 Financial Instruments: 
Disclosures, on the following assets and liabilities:

Group Company
2013
€'000

2012
€'000

2013
€'000

2012
€'000

Amortised cost
Amounts due from co-funders (Note 13) 13,773 13,710 12,048 12,480

Sundry debtors, prepayments and deposit interest receivable (Note 13) 1,301 2,223 159 374

Short term and fixed deposits (Note 14) 18,274 20,061 18,274 20,061

Cash at bank, in hand and bank overdraft (Notes 15 and 16) 7,141 4,993 6,639 4,492

Amounts received from co-funders but unspent (Note 16) (9,232) (10,736) (7,631) (9,506)

Trade creditors and accruals (Note 16) (3,009) (2,409) (2,539) (1,825)

Bank loan (Notes 16 and 17) (5,200) (5,740) (5,200) (5,740)



Concern Worldwide Annual Report and Accounts 2013 109

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

24 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

Fair value through other recognised gains and losses

2013 2012 2013 2012
€'000 €'000 €'000 €'000

Financial fixed assets (Note 11)  2,365 327  2,371 327

Equity investments and donated shares (Note 14)  - 2,657  - 2,657

(a) Credit risk

Credit risk arises where individuals or institutions are unable to repay amounts owed to the group and 
company. It could occur in the following forms:

(i)  The amounts due from co-funders as disclosed in Note 13 represent amounts owed to the group 
and company by government and institutional funders for work that has been performed but for 
which the related funding has not been received by the year-end. This is managed by the group 
by ensuring that all agreements with these funders are supported by signed contracts and that 
all reporting and project related requirements are fulfilled to ensure receipt of funding. The group 
also considers the credit risk of the funder prior to entering into contracts. 

(ii)  The financial institutions in which cash deposits, short term investments and cash at bank are 
placed, may default on the amounts held. This is managed by the group by ensuring that cash 
at bank and short term investments are invested with institutions that have a satisfactory credit 
rating as approved by Council. A satisfactory rating is deemed to be a long term credit rating 
of at least A3 and a short term credit rating of at least P2 with Moody’s Ratings of financial 
institutions, unless otherwise specifically approved by the Finance Committee. The group has 
policies in place to limit the concentration of cash and short term investments with any one 
financial institution. 

(iii)  The group has detailed procedures for monitoring and managing the credit risk related to 
other receivables.

The maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the carrying amount of the financial assets in 
the balance sheet.
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24 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(a) Credit risk (continued)

The maximum credit exposure at the reporting date was:

Group Company
Carrying amount of financial assets of the group and company: 2013

€'000
2012
€'000

2013
€'000

2012
€'000

Amounts due from co-funders 13,773 13,710 12,048 12,480

Short term and fixed deposits 18,274 20,061 18,274 20,061

Cash at bank, in hand and bank overdraft 7,141 4,993 6,639 4,492

Sundry debtors and deposit interest receivable 1,243 2,173 108 330

Total 40,431 40,937 37,069 37,363

Group Company
2013
€'000

2012
€'000

2013
€'000

2012
€'000

The following table details the ageing of amounts due from co-funders:
Not past due 10,096 9,512 8,371 8,282

Past due less than 1 month 554 231 554 231

Past due 1 to 3 months 822 1,143 822 1,143

Past due 3 to 12 months 1,851 2,234 1,851 2,234

Past due by more than one year 450 590 450 590

Total 13,773 13,710 12,048 12,480

At December 31, 2013 the amount which has been classified as neither past due nor impaired 
represents 73% (2012: 69%) of the total amounts due from co-funders. The collectability of 
outstanding receivable balances is closely monitored by reference to administrative and compliance 
requirements that are specific to each co-funder. There is not a significant concentration of risk and 
the history of defaults is negligible.

(b) Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk exists when assets and liabilities attract interest rates set according to different 
bases or which are set at different times. It impacts the group in two main ways:

(i)  The main companies in the group i.e. Concern Worldwide and its subsidiary Concern Worldwide 
(UK), have interest bearing financial assets. In general, rates on the short term bank deposits that 
they hold are fixed for relatively short periods in order to match funding requirements.



Concern Worldwide Annual Report and Accounts 2013 111

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

24 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(b) Interest rate risk (continued)

(ii)  The main company in the group, namely Concern Worldwide also has an interest bearing liability 
in the form of a bank loan (€5.2 million at December 31, 2013) relating to the Grantham Street 
building. This was secured to finance the purchase and renovation of this building. The interest 
rate on part of the loan (€2.8 million at December 31, 2013) was fixed in during 2012 for five 
years. The remainder of the bank loan attracts a variable interest charge, based on the Bank of 
Ireland cost of funds (BOCF) rate plus a fixed margin of 0.59% per annum. The average interest 
rate paid on the loan for 2013 was 1.86% (2012: 1.95%).

The interest rate profiles of the group’s and company’s interest bearing financial instruments are 
as follows:

   Group    Company
Variable rate: 2013

€'000
2012
€'000

2013
€'000

2012
€'000

Bank loan (2,448) (2,847) (2,448) (2,847)

Cash, short term and fixed deposits 25,415 25,054 24,913 24,553

Total 22,967 22,207 22,465 21,706

   Group    Company
Fixed rate: 2013

€'000
2012
€'000

2013
€'000

2012
€'000

Bank loan (2,752) (2,893) (2,752) (2,893)

Total (2,752) (2,893) (2,752) (2,893)

An increase/decrease of 200 basis points in interest applied to the portion of the loan attracting 
a variable interest charge and short term deposits held at Deccember 31, 2013 would increase/
decrease the deficit for the year as set out below:

Group 
December 31, 2013

200 basis points

Group
December 31, 2012

200 basis points

Variable: Increase Decrease Increase Decrease
Bank loan (53) 42 (91) 61
Cash, Short term fixed deposits 383 (108) 483 (227)

Cash flow sensitivity (net) 330 (66) 392 (166)
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24 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(b) Interest rate risk (continued)

The decrease in the cash flow sensitivity in respect of the bank loan is subject to a minimum fixed 
margin of 0.59% per annum which the company is obliged to pay under the terms of the loan 
agreement (Note 17). The decrease in respect of cash and short term fixed deposits is restricted 
to an amount that does not exceed Nil. The cash flow sensitivities reflect the movements of actual 
interest rates earned and accrued during the year ended December 31, 2013.

(c) Foreign exchange risk

Foreign exchange risk is the risk that the group’s operations or its investments will be affected by 
fluctuations in exchange rates. 

Much of the group’s costs, particularly overseas costs, are denominated in US dollar while most 
income is received in euro and sterling. A strengthening of the US dollar against the euro and sterling 
could have a significant adverse effect on the group’s ability to deliver its planned programme of 
work. These currency risks are monitored on an ongoing basis and managed as deemed appropriate 
by utilising a combination of spot and forward foreign currency contracts. There are no open forward 
currency contracts at year-end.

(i)  Group - the following table details the group’s exposure to foreign exchange risk at the 
balance sheet date:

2013 2012
Other
€'000

Euro
€'000

Sterling
€'000

US 
Dollar
€'000

Other
€'000

Euro
€'000

Sterling
€'000

US 
Dollar
€'000

Financial fixed assets  - 2,365  -  -  -  327  -  - 
Amounts due from co-funders  - 8,614 1,725 3,434  - 7,906 1,230 4,573
Sundry debtors, prepayments 
and deposit interest receivable  - 159 1,142  -  - 374 1849  - 
Short term and fixed deposits  - 7,955 4,063 6,256  - 8,710 4,819 6,532
Equity investments, 
donated shares and other  -  -  -  -  - 2,657  -  - 
Cash at bank and in hand (net) 2,422 3,673 496 550 2,196 1,224 532 1,042
Amounts received from 
co-funders but unspent  - (5,019) (1,601) (2,612)  - (8,472) (1,230) (1,034)

Trade creditors and accruals - (1,787) (472) (750) - (1,323) (585) (501)

Bank loan  - (5,200)  -  -  - (5,740)  -  - 

Total 2,422 10,760 5,353 6,878 2,196 5,663 6,615 10,612
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24 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(c) Foreign exchange risk (continued)

A 10% strengthening of the euro against the US dollar, sterling and other currencies, based on 
outstanding assets and liabilities at December 31, 2013 would have increased the deficit for the year 
as set out below. A 10% weakening would have the opposite impact.

2013 2012
€'000 €'000

US Dollar 688 1,061
Sterling 536 662
Other currencies 242 220

(ii)  Company - the following table details the company’s exposure to foreign exchange risk 
at the balance sheet date:

2013 2012
Other
€'000

Euro
€'000

Sterling
€'000

US 
Dollar
€'000

Other
€'000

Euro
€'000

Sterling
€'000

US 
Dollar
€'000

Financial fixed assets  - 2,371  -  -  -  327  -  - 
Amounts due from co-funders  - 8,614  - 3,434  - 7,906  - 4,573
Sundry debtors, prepayments 
and deposit interest receivable  - 159  -  -  - 374  -  - 
Short term and fixed deposits  - 7,955 4,063 6,256  - 8,710  4,819 6,532
Equity investments, 
donated shares and other  -  -  -  -  - 2,657  -  - 
Cash at bank and in hand (net) 2,422 3,667  - 550 2,196 1,254  - 1,042
Amounts received from 
co-funders but unspent  - (5,019)  - (2,612)  - (8,472)  - (1,034)

Trade creditors and accruals  - (1,789)  - (750)  - (1,323)  - (501)

Bank loan  - (5,200)  -  -  - (5,740)  -  - 

Total 2,422 10,758 4,063 6,878 2,196 5,693 4,819 10,612
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24 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(c) Foreign exchange risk (continued)

A 10% strengthening of the euro against the US dollar, sterling and other currencies, based on 
outstanding assets and liabilities at December 31, 2013 would have increased the deficit for the year. 
A 10% weakening would have the opposite impact.

2013 2012
€'000 €'000

US Dollar 688 1,061
Sterling 406 482
Other currencies 242 220

(d) Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the group will be unable to meet financial obligations as they fall due 
from cash flows generated by its activities. This risk can arise from mismatches in the timing of cash 
flows relating to assets and liabilities. The group’s liquidity is managed by ensuring that sufficient 
cash and deposits are held on short notice, and by retaining sufficient reserves to cover short term 
fluctuations in income.

The following table reflects the contractual financial liabilities of the group and company, including 
estimated interest payments:

(i) Group

2013 Carrying
Amount

Contractual
Cash flows

< 6
Months

6 - 12
Months

1 - 2
Years

2 - 5
Years

> 5
Years

€'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000

Trade creditors and accruals 3,009 3,009 3,009  -  -  -  - 
Bank loan 5,200 5,967 344 344  1,377  2,065 1,837

Total 8,209 8,976 3,353 344 1,377 2,065 1,837

2012 Carrying
Amount

Contractual
Cash flows

< 6
Months

6 - 12
Months

1 - 2
Years

2 - 5
Years

> 5
Years

€'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000

Trade creditors and accruals 2,409 2,409 2,409  -  -  -  - 
Bank loan 5,740 7,629  344  344  1,377  2,753  2,811 

Total 8,149 10,038 2,753 344 1,377 2,753  2,811 
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24 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(d) Liquidity risk (continued)

(ii) Company

2013 Carrying
Amount

Contractual
Cash flows

< 6
Months

6 - 12
Months

1 - 2
Years

2 - 5
Years

> 5
Years

€'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000

 
Trade creditors and accruals 2,539 2,539 2,539  -  -  -  - 
Bank loan 5,200 5,967 344 344  1,377  2,065 1,837

Total 7,739 8,506 2,883 344 1,377 2,065 1,837

2012 Carrying
Amount

Contractual
Cash flows

< 6
Months

6 - 12
Months

1 - 2
Years

2 - 5
Years

> 5
Years

€'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000

Trade creditors and accruals 1,825 1,825 1,825  -  -  -  - 
Bank loan 5,740 7,629  344  344  1,377  2,753  2,811 

Total 7,565 9,454 2,169 344 1,377 2,753  2,811 

(e) Fair values of financial assets and liabilities

In accordance with FRS 29 Financial Instruments: Disclosures effective January 1, 2009 the group 
classifies fair value measurements using a fair value hierarchy that reflects the significance of the 
inputs used in making the measurements. 

The fair value hierarchy has the following levels:

-  Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

-  Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset 
or liability, either directly (as prices) or indirectly (derived from prices).

-  Level 3: Inputs for the assets or liabilities that are not based on observable market data (that is 
unobservable inputs).

The determination of what constitutes “observable” requires significant judgement by the group. The 
group considers observable data to be that market data that is readily available, regularly distributed 
or updated, reliable and verifiable, not proprietary and provided by independent sources that are 
actively involved in the relevant market. 
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24 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(e) Fair values of financial assets and liabilities (continued)

The following table analyses, within the fair value hierarchy, the group’s and company’s financial 
assets and liabilities measured at fair value at December 31, 2013:

 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
2013
€'000

2012
€'000

2013
€'000

2012
€'000

2013
€'000

2012
€'000

Equity investments - - - 2,657 - -
Financial fixed assets (AMK) - - - - 2,365 327

The group disposed of its equity investment in 2013.

The key input used by Council in determining the fair value of the AMK investment at December 31, 
2013 was the price paid in a market transaction in AMK shares that was concluded during the year.

As discussed in Note 11, at year-end the company was negotiating the disposal of its remaining 
shareholding in AMK. Had that anticipated sale price been taken the resulting valuation would not 
have been materially different to the value noted above.

Although the group believes that the estimate of fair value is appropriate, the use of different valuation 
bases, discount factors or valuation methods would result in different measurements of fair value.

In the opinion of the Council the value of the shareholding increased by €2 million during 2013.

25 SUBSIDIARIES

The parent company, Concern Worldwide, has a beneficial and controlling interest in two subsidiaries, 
as follows:

(a)  Concern Worldwide (UK) is registered as a company limited by guarantee and does not have 
a share capital. The subsidiary’s registered office is at Unit 13 & 14 Calico House, Clove Hitch 
Quay, Plantation Wharf, London. The wholly owned subsidiary commenced to trade on January 
1, 2004. It operates in Northern Ireland and Great Britain, its main activities are to fundraise for, 
and otherwise support, programmes of work which relieve poverty, distress and suffering in the 
poorest countries of the world.

(b)  Concern Charity Trading Limited is registered at 52-55 Camden Street, Dublin 2 as a company 
limited by guarantee and does not have a share capital. The wholly owned subsidiary, which was 
incorporated in 2000, is registered and operates in the Republic of Ireland. The main activity 
of Concern Charity Trading Limited is to support specific fundraising activities on behalf of the 
parent company.
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25 SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Concern Worldwide (UK) has a 100% shareholding in Concern Worldwide (NI) which has its 
registered office at 47 Frederick Street, Belfast, Northern Ireland and is dormant.

26 CONCERN WORLDWIDE (US) INC.

Concern Worldwide (US) Inc. is a not-for-profit organisation registered in the United States of 
America, and is an affiliate of Concern Worldwide. Concern Worldwide (US) Inc. is governed by an 
independent board of directors which retains full control over the financial and operating policies 
of the company. The principal activity of Concern Worldwide (US) Inc. is the raising of funds from 
the US Government and the general public. Concern Worldwide (US) Inc. has entered into separate 
agreements with Concern Worldwide whereby it will provide sub-awards from these funds exclusively 
to Concern Worldwide for the period that the agreements remain in force. The total amount of 
funding received from Concern Worldwide (US) Inc. in 2013 was €15.6 million (2012: €16.4 million). 
These grants are accounted for in the same way as grants from all other co-funders.

Concern Worldwide provides funds to Concern Worldwide (US) Inc. to contribute towards its 
operational costs. The total amount transferred in 2013 was €1.1 million (2012: €1 million); this 
amount is included in the expenditure of Concern Worldwide, analysed according to the purposes for 
which the funds were applied.

27 COMMITMENTS, CONTINGENCIES AND GUARANTEES

(i)  The 2014 Annual Plan, which was approved by Council on December 14, 2013 allows for 
overseas expenditure in 2014 of €94.5 million . Any increase over this amount requires the 
approval of Council. The group is also committed to assist certain overseas projects for periods 
in excess of one year. The group has entered agreements with partner agencies which commit it 
to expenditure of €5 million over the next 2 years.

(ii)  Commitments under operating lease agreements at December 31, 2013 in respect of premises 
used by the group and company are as follows:

Annual amount payable on leases in which the commitment 
expires within:

Group Company
2013
€'000

2012
€'000

2013
€'000

2012
€'000

 - one year - - - -
 - two to five years - 106 - -
 - more than five years 9 14 - -

Total 9 120 - -

One of the leases was renewed in February 2014 for a further 10 years. Rent of €0.1 million per 
annum is payable under the terms of the new lease. The new lease contains break clauses that may 
be exercised at the end of years 3 and 5.
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27 COMMITMENTS, CONTINGENCIES AND GUARANTEES (continued)

(iii)  Future capital expenditure approved by Council but not provided for in these financial statements 
is as follows:

Group Company
2013
€'000

2012
€'000

2013
€'000

2012
€'000

Contracted - - - -
Authorised but not contracted 292 206 223 132

Total 292 206 223 132

(iv)   At the year-end, the group had a contingent liability for taxes introduced by the government of 
one of the countries of operation. The maximum liability is estimated at €0.3 million, however 
negotiations are ongoing and the group expects that the ultimate payment, if any, would be 
approximately 50% of this amount. The group has not made a provision in the consolidated 
statement of financial activities for any amounts that may ultimately become payable, because it 
regards such payments as unlikely to be required.

(v)  Concern has entered into a loan agreement with its bankers for the original sum of €8 million in 
order to finance the purchase and renovation of a building adjacent to its existing head office. 
This loan is secured by a fixed charge on the Grantham Street building. The value of the loan at 
December 31, 2013 is €5.2 million.

(vi)  During 2013 the group was the lead agency in three consortia that were awarded grants from 
institutional co-funders to fund project activities. The total value of these grants over the next 
five years is €33 million. Of this amount €10 million is expected to be spent by the group and the 
balance will be utilised by the other consortia members.

  In 2013, expenditure of these grants totalled €4.1 million. Of this amount €1.7 million was utilised 
by the group and the remainder was utilised by the other consortia members. 

  As the group signed the contracts with the institutional co-funders for the full grants it has 
obligations in relation to monitoring and reporting the full expenditure of these grants, and these 
obligations remain until the projects have been fully concluded. No provision or disclosure has 
been made in these accounts for any such liabilities (for which the group is jointly and severally 
liable) because the likelihood of them materialising is believed to be remote.
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28 LEGAL STATUS OF COMPANY

In accordance with Section 24 of the Companies Act, 1963, the company is exempt from including 
the word ‘limited’ in its name. The company is limited by guarantee and has no share capital. At 
December 31, 2013, there were 667 members (2012: 670), whose guarantee is limited to €6.35 
each. This guarantee continues for one year after individual membership ceases.

The company, as a charity, is exempt from the reporting and disclosure requirements of the 
Companies (Amendment) Act, 1986. 

As permitted by the Companies Acts, the company has not presented its own statement of financial 
activities. As indicated in Note 19(b) the deficit of the company before Other recognised gains and 
losses for the financial year was €2.1 million (2012: €4 million).

29 POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS

No significant events have taken place since the year-end that would result in an adjustment to the 
2013 financial information or inclusion of a note thereto.

30 RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURE

The company is availing of the exemption under FRS 8 Related Party Disclosures not to disclose 
details of transactions with companies within the group. Note 9 details key management 
compensation, and there are no other related party disclosures required to be made. Transactions 
related to Concern Worldwide (US) Inc. are dealt with in Note 26.

31 APPROVAL OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

These financial statements were approved by the Council of Concern Worldwide on April 16, 2014.



Concern Worldwide Annual Report and Accounts 2013 120

APPENDIX 1 
FIVE YEAR SUMMARY OF CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL ACTIVITIES

2013 2012 2011 2010 2009
€'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000

Income
Voluntary income 40,561 41,765 50,377 60,718 44,791
Irish Government 23,051 24,435 24,489 24,572 26,807
British Government 7,998 5,976 11,738 5,876 2,447
European Union 25,058 30,977 32,707 23,859 11,297
Concern Worldwide (US) Inc. (including US Government) 15,651 16,408 20,648 21,932 8,280
Other international co-funding 11,307 16,011 14,425 20,230 11,776
Income from sale of subsidiary undertaking  -  -  -  - 8,759
Income from trading activities  -  -  3  - 155
Donated commodities 2,799 7,190 5,444 9,335 14,697
Deposit interest and sundry income 904 662 403 636 412
Total Income 127,329 143,424 160,234 167,158 129,421

 
Expenditure
Afghanistan 4,263 5,442 5,146 4,468 3,225
Angola  -  -  - 1,016 1,564
Bangladesh 6,393 8,604 8,828 4,386 4,257
Burundi 1,579 2,061 2,103 1,592 1,624
Cambodia 291 1,955 1,945 2,111 2,008
Chad 2,451 3,246 2,720 1,496 1,589
DPR Korea 1,760 1,343 1,416 1,297 1,372
DR Congo 4,936 4,589 4,003 4,335 5,730
Ethiopia 7,229 6,962 7,229 5,157 5,908
Haiti 8,121 11,889 16,516 21,889 4,224
India 782 1,943 2,546 2,388 2,363
Indonesia  -  -  - 6 182
Kenya 5,312 6,329 4,973 4,262 3,430
Lao PDR - 34 484 1,036 1,617
Lebanon 1,184  -  -  - -
Liberia 2,348 2,876 4,540 3,140 3,804
Malawi 2,619 2,540 2,960 3,525 2,966
Mozambique 2,658 1,839 1,860 1,834 2,343
Myanmar  -  -  -  - 11
Nepal  -  -  - 742 1,282
Niger 5,987 8,437 5,243 7,979 3,180
Pakistan 10,691 12,263 24,996 16,869 2,900
Philippines 1,230  -  -  -  - 
Rwanda 1,825 2,020 1,473 1,777 2,216
Sierra Leone 3,882 5,061 4,693 4,237 3,554
Somalia 8,667 13,543 10,055 4,682 2,794
Republic of Sudan 4,536 4,003 6,590 6,014 6,147
South Sudan 4,359 5,997 4,712 2,630 4,167
Syria-Turkey 547  -  -  -  - 
Tanzania 3,210 3,025 2,866 3,274 2,697
Timor Leste  -  -  - 679 1,419
Uganda 2,719 2,622 2,854 2,644 2,393
Zambia 2,030 2,379 2,778 2,020 1,833
Zimbabwe 1,812 3,288 4,782 8,725 17,214
Other countries & projects 1,340 1,329 672 2,558 1,701
Overseas support costs 8,450 6,705 6,472 6,700 8,048
Development education & advocacy 3,420 3,393 3,227 3,087 3,084

Total cost of charitable activities 116,631 135,717 148,682 138,555 112,846

Cost of generating funds 11,688 10,842 10,794 11,422 11,036
Cost of generating trading income  -  -  -  - 135
Governance costs 715 763 828 796 618

Total expenditure 129,034 147,322 160,304 150,773 124,635

Net (outgoing)/incoming resources for the year (1,705) (3,898) (70) 16,385 4,786
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APPENDIX 2 
IRISH AID PROGRAMME FUNDING (IAPF) FUNDED BY THE GOVERNMENT OF 
IRELAND THROUGH IRISH AID

The 2013 IAPF grant was utilised as follows:

2013
€'000

Direct programme activities  18,028 
Programme quality  995 
Programme support and administration  1,194 

Total  20,217 

Details of the direct programme expenditure are as follows:

Programme Outcomes

2013
€'000

Assets and Return on Assets  9,770 
Inequality  3,665 
Risk and Vulnerability  4,193 
Development Education  400 

Total direct programme expenditure  18,028 

IAPF Expenditure by Country

2013
€'000

Afghanistan 1,230
Bangladesh 1,200
Burundi 900
Chad 699
DR Congo 1,204
DPR Korea 400
Ethiopia 1,150
Haiti 1,200
Liberia 1,050
Malawi 900
Mozambique 1,000
Niger 1,045
Republic of Sudan 700
Rwanda 1,000
Sierra Leone 1,000
Somalia 1,000
South Sudan 750
Zambia 1,200
Development Education  400 

Total direct programme expenditure  18,028 
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APPENDIX 3 
Grants to Partner Agencies for Charitable Activities

The top 50 grant recipients in 2013 are listed below:

Name of partner institution Country No. of 
grants

2013

€'000

1. Research and Development Foundation Pakistan 4 847
2. Friends In Village Development Bangladesh Bangladesh 3 728
3. Jagrata Juba Shanga Bangladesh 3 697
4. Voluntary Association for Rural Development Bangladesh 2 569
5. DevCon - An Association for Rural Development Pakistan 2 566
6. Pally Bikash Kendra Bangladesh 3 556
7. CESVI Pakistan 3 507
8. Mojaz Foundation Pakistan 2 498
9. Lifeline Gedo Somalia 1 498
10. Pastoralist Integrated Support Programme Kenya 2 490
11. People in Need Ethiopia 1 487
12. Rootwork Foundation Pakistan 4 476
13. Bright Star Development Society Balochistan Pakistan 3 463
14. Help Foundation Pakistan 4 428
15. Indus Resource Centre Pakistan 3 411
16. Shushilan Bangladesh 2 408
17. Community Initiatives Facilitation & Assistance Kenya 3 397
18. Gargaar Relief and Development Organisation Somalia 2 381
19. Sangtani Woman Rural Development Organisation Pakistan 2 359
20. Water, Environment and Sanitation Society Pakistan 2 351
21. Youthlink Somalia 4 345
22. Islamic Help Pakistan 2 324
23. Participatory Village Development Programme Pakistan 1 285
24. Sajida Foundation Bangladesh 2 256
25. Friends Foundation Pakistan 2 252
26. Balochistan Rural Development Society Pakistan 2 238
27. Lodhran Pilot Project Pakistan 2 236
28. Integrated Regional Support Program Pakistan 3 232
29. Tanzania Water and Environmental Sanitation Tanzania 2 230
30. Kisumu Medical and Education Trust Kenya 3 212
31. Community Appraisal and Motivation Programme Pakistan 3 204
32. Bright Star Development Society Balochistan Pakistan 1 192
33. Community Research Development Organization Pakistan 1 189
34. Agency for Technical Cooperation and Development Pakistan 1 180
35. Comite Protos Haiti Haiti 1 171
36. ACTED Pakistan 1 171
37. Organization for Child Development and Transformation (Chadet) Ethiopia 4 171
38. Women Support Association Ethiopia 1 164
39. Timret Le Hiwot Ethiopia 1 156
40. Sudanese Environment Conservation Rep. of Sudan 1 156
41. ZAMZAM Rep. of Sudan 1 154
42. DOABA Foundation Pakistan 4 148
43. Redeemed Gospel Church Kenya 1 146
44. L'Asosyason Animate ak Peyizan Lagonav Haiti 3 141
45. IIDA Women’s Development Organisation Somalia 1 137
46. Nari Moitree Bangladesh 2 137
47. Pikin to Pikin Sierra Leone 2 133
48. Saibaan Development Organization Pakistan 1 133
49. Support for Tropical Initiative in Poverty Alleviation Kenya 1 128
50. Jamuna Samaj Kallyan Sangstha Bangladesh 2 123
51. Other Partners 250 6,232

Total 357 22,094
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